

SECOND QUARTER 2019

Report to Shareholders

For the period ended April 30, 2019

HIGHLIGHTS OF SECOND QUARTER 2019

- Adjusted net income⁽¹⁾ of \$48.7 million, and reported net income of \$43.3 million.
- Adjusted return on common shareholders' equity⁽¹⁾ of 8.3%, and reported return on common shareholders' equity of 7.3%.
- Adjusted efficiency ratio⁽¹⁾ of 73.5%, and reported efficiency ratio of 76.3%.
- Common Equity Tier 1 ratio at 9.0%.
- Solid credit quality, with provisions for credit losses at 0.11%.
- Quarterly common share dividend raised by \$0.01 to \$0.66 per share.
- New collective agreement signed with unionized employees.

	For th	ne thr	ee months en	ided	For t	he si	x months end	ed
In millions of Canadian dollars, except per share and percentage amounts (Unaudited)	 April 30 2019		April 30 2018	Variance	 April 30 2019		April 30 2018	Variance
Reported basis								
Net income	\$ 43.3	\$	59.2	(27)%	\$ 83.6	\$	118.9	(30)%
Diluted earnings per share	\$ 0.95	\$	1.34	(29)%	\$ 1.83	\$	2.74	(33)%
Return on common shareholders' equity	7.3%		10.5%		6.9%		10.7%	
Efficiency ratio	76.3%		67.6%		76.3%		67.0%	
Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio	9.0%		8.6%					
Adjusted basis ⁽¹⁾								
Adjusted net income	\$ 48.7	\$	64.6	(25)%	\$ 93.4	\$	127.8	(27)%
Adjusted diluted earnings per share	\$ 1.08	\$	1.47	(27)%	\$ 2.06	\$	2.96	(30)%
Adjusted return on common shareholders' equity	8.3%		11.6%		7.8%		11.5%	
Adjusted efficiency ratio	73.5%		65.1%		73.7%		64.9%	

(1) Certain measures presented throughout this document exclude the effect of certain amounts designated as adjusting items and are Non-GAAP measures. Refer to the Non-GAAP and Key Performance Measures section for further details.

Laurentian Bank Financial Group reported net income of \$43.3 million or \$0.95 diluted per share for the second quarter of 2019, compared with net income of \$59.2 million or \$1.34 diluted per share for the second quarter of 2018. Return on common shareholders' equity was 7.3% for the second quarter of 2019, compared with 10.5% for the second quarter of 2018. On an adjusted basis, net income totalled \$48.7 million or \$1.08 diluted per share for the second quarter of 2019, down 25% and 27% respectively, compared with \$64.6 million or \$1.47 diluted per share for the second quarter of 2018. Adjusted return on common shareholders' equity was 8.3% for the second quarter of 2019, compared with 11.6% a year ago. Reported results included adjusting items, such as net restructuring charges of \$3.4 million for the second quarter of 2019, as detailed in the Non-GAAP and Key Performance Measures section.

For the six months ended April 30, 2019, net income was \$83.6 million or \$1.83 diluted per share, compared with \$118.9 million or \$2.74 diluted per share for the six months ended April 30, 2018. Return on common shareholders' equity was 6.9% for the six months ended April 30, 2019, compared with 10.7% for the six months ended April 30, 2018. On an adjusted basis, net income totalled \$93.4 million or \$2.06 diluted per share for the six months ended April 30, 2019, down 27% and 30% respectively, compared with \$127.8 million or \$2.96 diluted per share for the six months ended April 30, 2018. Adjusted return on common shareholders' equity was 7.8% for the six months ended April 30, 2018, for the same period a year ago. Reported results included adjusting items, as detailed in the Non-GAAP and Key Performance Measures section.

François Desjardins, President and Chief Executive Officer, commented on the second quarter of 2019 highlights: "I am pleased to report that we successfully completed the negotiations of a collective agreement that supports performance, efficiency and growth. This strategically changes the business going forward."

M. Desjardins added: "This quarter's performance continues to be impacted by transformation related investments and costs related to labour relations which can now be reduced. Management remains committed to achieve mid-term targets and ultimately, create long-term value for its shareholders."

"The team achieved strong growth in loans to business customers and increased revenues from Capital Market related activities. Retail Operations Groups are now turning their complete attention to growth and performance, as our teams are engaged and eager to succeed in the pursuit of our mission to help customers improve their financial health."

M. Desjardins concluded: "Laurentian Bank Financial Group is moving forward. It continues to have solid capital and liquidity levels as well as industry low loan loss provisions. Even if there is more work to do, it has never been stronger in terms of processes and technology."

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Management's Discussion and Analysis	2	
About Laurentian Bank Financial Group	2	
Caution Regarding Forward-looking Statements	3	
Highlights	4	
Basis of Presentation	5	
Non-GAAP and Key Performance Measures	5	
Outlook	7	
Analysis of Consolidated Results	9	
Financial Condition	13	

Capital Management	14
Risk Management	14
Additional Financial Information - Quarterly Results	19
Corporate Governance and Changes to Internal	
Control over Financial Reporting	19
Accounting Policies and Estimates	20
Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial	
Statements (Unaudited)	21
Shareholder Information	56

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

This Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is a narrative explanation, through the eyes of management, of the Laurentian Bank of Canada's financial condition as at April 30, 2019 and its operating results for the period then ended, compared with the corresponding periods shown. This MD&A should be read in conjunction with the Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) as at and for the period ended April 30, 2019 and with the 2018 Annual Report. This MD&A is dated May 29, 2019. Additional information about the Laurentian Bank of Canada, including the 2018 Annual Information Form, is available on our website at www.lbcfg.ca and on the Canadian Securities Administrators' website at www.sedar.com.

ABOUT LAURENTIAN BANK FINANCIAL GROUP

Founded in 1846, Laurentian Bank Financial Group is a diversified financial services provider whose mission is to help its customers improve their financial health. The Laurentian Bank of Canada and its entities are collectively referred as Laurentian Bank Financial Group (the "Group" or the "Bank").

With 3,300 employees guided by the values of proximity, simplicity and honesty, the Group provides a broad range of advice-based solutions and services to its retail, business and institutional customers. With pan-Canadian activities and a presence in the U.S., the Group is an important player in numerous market segments.

The Group has \$45 billion in balance sheet assets and \$30 billion in assets under administration.

CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

In this document and in other documents filed with Canadian regulatory authorities or in other communications, we may from time to time make written or oral forward-looking statements within the meaning of applicable securities legislation. Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements regarding our business plan and financial objectives including statements contained in our 2018 Annual Report under the heading "Outlook". The forward-looking statements contained in this document are used to assist readers in obtaining a better understanding of our financial position and the results of operations as at and for the periods ended on the dates presented and may not be appropriate for other purposes. Forward-looking statements typically use the conditional, as well as words such as prospect, believe, estimate, forecast, project, expect, anticipate, plan, may, should, could and would, or the negative of these terms, variations thereof or similar terminology.

By their very nature, forward-looking statements are based on assumptions and involve inherent risks and uncertainties, both general and specific in nature. It is therefore possible that the forecasts, projections and other forward-looking statements will not be achieved or will prove to be inaccurate. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in these forward-looking statements are reasonable, we can give no assurances that these expectations will prove to be correct. Certain important assumptions by us in making forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, our estimates and statements regarding our business plan and financial objectives including statements contained in our 2018 Annual Report under the heading "Outlook".

We caution readers against placing undue reliance on forward-looking statements when making decisions, as the actual results could differ considerably from the opinions, plans, objectives, expectations, forecasts, estimates and intentions expressed in such forward-looking statements due to various material factors. Among other things, these factors include: changes in capital market conditions, changes in government monetary, fiscal and economic policies, changes in interest rates, inflation levels and general economic conditions, legislative and regulatory developments, changes in competition, modifications to credit ratings, scarcity of human resources, developments with respect to labour relations, as well as developments in the technological environment. Furthermore, these factors include the ability to execute our plan and in particular the successful reorganization of the Retail Services operations, the modernization of the core banking system and the adoption of the Advanced Internal Ratings-Based approach to credit risk (the AIRB approach).

We further caution that the foregoing list of factors is not exhaustive. For more information on the risks, uncertainties and assumptions that would cause our actual results to differ from current expectations, please also refer to the "Risk Appetite and Risk Management Framework" section of our 2018 Annual Report, as well as to other public filings available at www.sedar.com.

We do not undertake to update any forward-looking statements, whether oral or written, made by us or on our behalf, except to the extent required by securities regulations.

HIGHLIGHTS

			For the t	hree months e	ende	d			For t	the	six months ende	ed
In thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share and percentage amounts (Unaudited)		April 30 2019	January 31 2019	Variance		April 30 2018	Variance		April 30 2019		April 30 2018	Variance
Operating results												
Total revenue	\$23	39,881	\$ 242,338	(1)%	\$	259,887	(8)%	\$4	482,219	\$	526,889	(8)%
Net income	\$ 4	43,313	\$ 40,256	8 %	\$	59,195	(27)%	\$	83,569	\$	118,942	(30)%
Adjusted net income ⁽¹⁾	\$ 4	48,726	\$ 44,653	9 %	\$	64,625	(25)%	\$	93,379	\$	127,842	[27]%
Operating performance												
Diluted earnings per share	\$	0.95	\$ 0.88	8 %	\$	1.34	(29)%	\$	1.83	\$	2.74	(33)%
Adjusted diluted earnings per share ⁽¹⁾	\$	1.08	\$ 0.98	10 %	\$	1.47	(27)%	\$	2.06	\$	2.96	(30)%
Return on common shareholders' equity ⁽¹⁾		7.3 %	6.5 %			10.5 %			6.9 %		10.7 %	
Adjusted return on common shareholders' equity ⁽¹⁾		8.3 %	7.3 %			11.6 %			7.8 %		11.5 %	
Net interest margin		1.77 %	1.80 %			1.82 %			1.78 %		1.79 %	
Efficiency ratio		76.3 %	76.2 %			67.6 %			76.3 %		67.0 %	
Adjusted efficiency ratio ⁽¹⁾		73.5 %	74.0 %			65.1 %			73.7 %		64.9 %	
Operating leverage		(0.2) %	(10.0)%			(1.5)%			(12.6) %		4.8 %	
Adjusted operating leverage ⁽¹⁾		0.6 %	(9.5)%			(0.4)%			(12.4) %		3.9 %	
Financial position (\$ millions)												
Loans and acceptances	\$ 3	34,118	\$ 34,103	— %	\$	36,339	(6)%					
Balance sheet assets	\$ 4	44,693	\$ 45,120	(1)%	\$	47,565	(6)%					
Deposits	\$ 2	27,079	\$ 28,217	(4)%	\$	29,479	(8)%					
Common shareholders' equity ⁽¹⁾	\$	2,284	\$ 2,253	1 %	\$	2,204	4 %					
Key growth drivers (\$ millions)												
Loans to business customers	\$ 1	12,733	\$ 12,312	3 %	\$	12,362	3 %					
Residential mortgage loans	\$ 1	16,313	\$ 16,573	(2)%	\$	18,229	(11)%					
Total deposits from clients ^[2]	\$ 2	23,526	\$ 24,561	(4)%	\$	25,570	(8)%					
Basel III regulatory capital ratios												
Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) capital ratio ⁽³⁾		9.0 %	8.9 %			8.6 %						
CET1 risk-weighted assets (\$ millions)	\$ 2	20,476	\$ 20,461		\$	20,816						
Credit quality												
Net impaired loans as a % of loans and acceptances		0.42 %	0.43 %			0.34 %						
Provision for credit losses as a % of average loans and acceptances		0.11 %	0.12 %			0.11 %			0.12 %		0.12 %	
Common share information												
Closing share price ⁽⁴⁾	\$	42.44	\$ 44.17	(4)%	\$	49.31	(14)%	\$	42.44	\$	49.31	(14)%
Price / earnings ratio (trailing four quarters)		10.1x	9.6x			8.7x			10.1x		8.7x	
Book value per share	\$	53.97	\$ 53.41	1 %	\$	52.67	2 %	\$	53.97	\$	52.67	2 %
Dividends declared per share	\$	0.65	\$ 0.65	- %	\$	0.63	3 %	\$	1.30	\$	1.26	3 %
Dividend yield		6.1 %	5.9 %			5.1 %			6.1 %		5.1 %	
Dividend payout ratio		68.5 %	73.9 %			47.0 %			71.1 %		45.6 %	
Adjusted dividend payout ratio ⁽¹⁾		60.3 %	66.1 %			42.8 %			63.1 %		42.3 %	

(1) Refer to the Non-GAAP and Key Performance Measures section.

(2) Including personal deposits from branches and independent brokers and advisors, as well as commercial deposits.
(3) Using the Standardized Approach in determining credit risk and operational risk.
(4) Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX) closing market price.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The financial information reported herein is based on the Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) for the period ended April 30, 2019, and has been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting standards (IFRS), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), as well as in accordance with IAS 34, *Interim Financial Reporting*. All amounts are presented in Canadian dollars.

FINANCIAL REPORTING CHANGES

Adoption of New Accounting Standards

The Bank adopted IFRS 9, *Financial Instruments* (IFRS 9) and IFRS 15, *Revenue from Contracts with Customers* (IFRS 15) as at November 1, 2018. The adoption of IFRS 9 resulted in a decrease of \$7.7 million of shareholders' equity as at November 1, 2018, or a decrease of 4 bps of the CET1 capital ratio. As permitted by IFRS 9, the Bank did not restate comparative amounts for prior periods. The adoption of IFRS 15 had no significant impact on the Bank's Consolidated Financial Statements as at November 1, 2018. For details on these accounting policy changes and on the impact of adoption as at November 1, 2018, refer to Notes 2 and 5 to the Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements.

NON-GAAP AND KEY PERFORMANCE MEASURES

NON-GAAP MEASURES

Management uses both generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and non-GAAP measures to assess the Bank's performance. Results prepared in accordance with GAAP are referred to as "reported" results. Non-GAAP measures presented throughout this document are referred to as "adjusted" measures and exclude the effect of certain amounts designated as adjusting items. Adjusting items are related to restructuring plans and to business combinations and have been designated as such as management does not believe they are indicative of underlying business performance. Non-GAAP measures are considered useful to readers in obtaining a better understanding of how management analyzes the Bank's results and in assessing underlying business performance and related trends. Non-GAAP measures do not have any standardized meaning prescribed by GAAP and are unlikely to be comparable to any similar measures presented by other issuers.

The following table shows adjusting items and their impact on reported results.

IMPACT OF ADJUSTING ITEMS ON REPORTED RESULTS

		For t	he th	nree months e	ended		 For the six m	nonth	s ended
In thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts (Unaudited)		April 30 2019		January 31 2019		April 30 2018	April 30 2019		April 30 2018
Impact on income before income taxes									
Reported income before income taxes	\$	47,160	\$	46,720	\$	74,232	\$ 93,880	\$	151,036
Adjusting items, before income taxes									
Restructuring charges ⁽¹⁾									
Severance charges		2,420		1,347		_	3,767		_
Other restructuring charges		1,020		659		1,751	1,679		2,669
		3,440		2,006		1,751	5,446		2,669
Items related to business combinations									
Amortization of net premium on purchased financial instruments $^{\scriptscriptstyle [2]}$		390		442		601	832		1,254
Amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets ^[3]		3,436		3,433		2,986	6,869		5,969
Other costs related to business combinations ⁽⁴⁾		_		_		1,758	_		2,357
		3,826		3,875		5,345	7,701		9,580
		7,266		5,881		7,096	13,147		12,249
Adjusted income before income taxes	\$	54,426	\$	52,601	\$	81,328	\$ 107,027	\$	163,285
Impact on net income									
Reported net income	\$	43,313	\$	40,256	\$	59,195	\$ 83,569	\$	118,942
Adjusting items, net of income taxes									
Restructuring charges ^[1]									
Severance charges		1,776		989		_	2,765		_
Other restructuring charges		749		483		1,283	1,232		1,956
		2,525		1,472		1,283	3,997		1,956
Items related to business combinations									
Amortization of net premium on purchased financial instruments ^[2]		286		325		442	611		922
Amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets ⁽³⁾		2,602		2,600		2,418	5,202		4,296
Other costs related to business combinations ⁽⁴⁾		, 		_		1,287	, 		1,726
	_	2,888		2,925		4,147	 5,813		6,944
		5,413		4,397		5,430	, 9,810		8,900
Adjusted net income	\$	48,726	\$	44,653	\$	64,625	\$ 93,379	\$	127,842
Impact on diluted earnings per share									
Reported diluted earnings per share	\$	0.95	\$	0.88	\$	1.34	\$ 1.83	\$	2.74
Adjusting items									
Restructuring charges		0.06		0.03		0.03	0.09		0.05
Items related to business combinations		0.07		0.07		0.10	0.14		0.17
····-		0.13		0.10		0.13	 0.23		0.22
Adjusted diluted earnings per share	\$	1.08	\$	0.98	\$	1.47	\$ 2.06	\$	2.96

(1) Restructuring charges mainly result from the optimization of our Retail Services operations and the streamlining of back-office and corporate functions. Restructuring charges mostly relate to severance charges, solaries, provisions related to the termination of lease contracts, communication expenses and professional fees. Restructuring charges are included on the Non-interest expenses line item. For the three and six-month periods ended April 30, 2019, severance charges are presented net of a \$4.8 million curtailment gain on pension plans and other post-employment benefits obligations and reversals of provisions amounting to \$3.5 million.

[2] Amortization of net premium on purchased financial instruments results from a one-time gain on a business acquisition in 2012 and is included on the Amortization of net premium on purchased financial instruments line item.

[3] Amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets results from business acquisitions in 2016 and 2017 and is included on the Non-interest expenses line-item.

[4] Other costs related to business combinations result from the integration of a business acquired in 2016 and are included on the Non-interest expenses line-item.

KEY PERFORMANCE MEASURES

Management also uses a number of financial metrics to assess performance. Detailed information on return on common shareholders' equity is provided below. Other performance measures such as the net interest margin, efficiency ratio, operating leverage and dividend payout ratio are defined in the "Non-GAAP and Key Performance Measures" section on page 18 of our 2018 Annual Report.

Return on common shareholders' equity

Return on common shareholders' equity (ROE) is a profitability measure calculated as the net income available to common shareholders as a percentage of average common shareholders' equity. The Bank's common shareholders' equity is defined as the sum of the value of common shares, retained earnings, share-based compensation reserve and accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) excluding cash flow hedge reserves. The following table presents additional information about return on common shareholders' equity.

RETURN ON COMMON SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

	For t	he tl	nree months e	nde	d	For the six m	ontl	nths ended		
In thousands of Canadian dollars, except percentage amounts (Unaudited)	 April 30 2019		January 31 2019		April 30 2018	 April 30 2019		April 30 2018		
Reported net income available to common shareholders	\$ 40,057	\$	36,999	\$	55,942	\$ 77,056	\$	111,410		
Adjusting items, net of income taxes	5,413		4,397		5,430	9,810		8,900		
Adjusted net income available to common shareholders	\$ 45,470	\$	41,396	\$	61,372	\$ 86,866	\$	120,310		
Average common shareholders' equity	\$ 2,256,503	\$	2,251,210	\$	2,178,112	\$ 2,256,672	\$	2,105,168		
Return on common shareholders' equity	7.3%		6.5%		10.5%	6.9%		10.7%		
Adjusted return on common shareholders' equity	8.3%		7.3%		11.6%	7.8%		11.5%		

OUTLOOK

ECONOMIC OUTLOOK

Global economic growth has been slowing down in major economies as of late 2018, which prompted several central banks to halt increases in policy rates in early 2019. Although improvements in financial conditions and low inflation had improved market sentiment at the outset of the year, global economic policy uncertainty remains elevated due to the ongoing US-China trade tensions, Brexit and instability in a few emerging markets including Turkey and Venezuela. Furthermore, the timing of the ratification of the new Canada-United-States-Mexico Agreement (CUSMA) also contributes to this uncertain economic environment.

The US economy grew by 3.2% in the first quarter of 2019, suggesting that the economic slowdown expected in 2019 might not be as pronounced as expected. Even if the temporary effect on growth ensuing from the 2017 tax cuts are fading and tariffs imposed on Chinese imports have, thus far, only modestly increased consumer price inflation, the US consumer and corporate sectors remain in sufficiently good health to sustain a rate hike in early 2020 if the Federal Reserve deemed it appropriate.

The Canadian economy started to rebound this spring following some sluggishness observed in late 2018 and early 2019 caused in part by adjustments in the oil sector. The Canadian economy is currently benefitting from positive momentum in several industries, mostly driven by services-oriented sectors. In addition, commodity prices have recently increased, a positive development for Canada. Particularly, crude oil prices rebounded strongly due to Iranian and Venezuelan sanctions, OPEC production cuts and robust global oil demand.

So far this year, job creation has been strong, wage gains have been moderate and the unemployment rate remained near its fourdecade low of 5.7%. Thus, Canadian households continue to adjust to past increases in interest rates, while the household debt-todisposable income ratio plateaued. Housing affordability also improved due to the easing of home price appreciation and stronger household income, especially in Toronto and Vancouver. In addition, the pace of residential homebuilding, led by rental and condo units, softened slightly in recent quarters from a business-cycle high to a level which is still vigorous and in line with household formation.

The slower global momentum weighing down on Canadian exports and the ongoing household adjustment to higher interest rates and mortgage regulatory reforms led the Bank of Canada to replace its tightening bias with a neutral stance. The target for the overnight rate now stands at 1.75%, the highest level since late 2008 and Canadian real gross domestic production (GDP) is expected to grow at a respectable pace of 1.3% in 2019 and 1.8% in 2020.

STRATEGIC PLAN

Three years ago, we launched a 7-year plan focused on becoming a better and different bank which will address advancements in technology, globalization of banking and better meet our customers' needs. To achieve this, we outlined 3 strategic objectives: Build a stronger foundation; Invest in profitable growth; and Improve financial performance. We strive to execute on these strategic objectives with our ultimate goal – to improve the Bank's performance and achieve a profitability level similar to that of the other Canadian banks.

In the second quarter of 2019, we continued to make important progress on our key initiatives. In those regards, 2019 remains a year of investments in our people, processes and technology. But perhaps our most significant achievement was signing a new collective agreement for our Quebec-based retail operations, which strengthen our foundation and will contribute to improve financial performance.

To evolve and be successful in our transformation, we needed a renewed collective agreement. The new agreement is now limited to specific existing positions, mainly financial advisors and client-facing positions in our branch network in the province of Quebec. In addition, the new agreement promotes a modern culture of performance. We now have working conditions that are comparable to those offered by our competition and this is key in being able to attract new talent who wants to be hired, assessed and promoted based on their qualifications and performance. Changes to the agreement, including the elimination of job security, also provide us with more flexibility to carry out our activities in the most efficient and scalable manner. For example, in late April, we started the optimization of certain Retail Services back-office, credit and collections functions internally and through outsourcing agreements to generate efficiencies of scale. These measures led to net restructuring charges of \$3.4 million in the quarter.

Another immediate positive impact is that we no longer have to incur the incremental expenses associated with a potential work conflict. This means that we are reducing our liquidity to more normal levels, reducing the expenses on legal matters and other labour related costs and re-tasking members to more productive priorities. Last quarter, we indicated that on an annual basis, carrying the right level of liquidity would improve net interest income by \$7 million, reducing legal and labor related expenses would cut non-interest expenses by \$3 million and lowering the headcount would reduce expenses by \$15 to \$20 million. We remain on track to deliver these results gradually over the next 9 months.

With this milestone behind us, Retail Operations in Quebec can turn its complete attention to growth and performance, as our branch network is streamlined and staff are engaged and eager to succeed in the pursuit of our mission to help our customers improve their financial health.

Update on key initiatives

Core-banking system

During the first quarter of 2019, we migrated the remaining products for B2B Bank and most Business Services loans onto the new platform, marking the conclusion of Phase 1 of the program. As previously mentioned, Phase 2 of the program will encompass all Retail Services accounts and products, as well as the few remaining Business Services products. With the current momentum in our retail operations, we intend to accelerate the implementation of the core banking initiative relating to branch operations. The target for completion is December 2020, at which time, 100% of all products will have been migrated from the old banking platform to our new core banking platform.

Digital offering

As we completed Phase 1 of the implementation of our core-banking system in January, we are now focusing on the latest development stage of our new digital banking offering. This new offering, expected to be launched to independent advisors and brokers in the Fall and direct to customers across Canada at the end of the year, should improve funding and positively contribute to results.

Optimization of Retail Services operations

In the first half of 2019, we merged five branches. Furthermore, the conversion of our retail branches to advice-only branches is expected to progressively be completed by the end of 2019. As we continue to simplify the Bank's retail branch operations, we are progressing toward our goal of becoming a renewed financial institution by 2022.

Advanced Internal Rating-Based approach to credit risk

We are also progressing on our project to adopt, subject to regulatory approval, the AIRB Approach to credit risk used to determine the Bank's regulatory capital requirements. With a sharp focus on the core-banking system, our digital offer, balance sheet growth and efficiency gains, we will be slowing down the AIRB initiative by 12 to 18 months. We are now planning the implementation between the end of 2021 and the first half of 2022, with benefits to be realized in 2022 and beyond.

Prudent management

As we are fully devoted to these initiatives, we are being prudent in managing the Bank's assets. Our credit quality remains strong. We also continue to improve compliance and regulatory frameworks to better manage risks. In addition, we are maintaining healthy levels of capital and liquid assets, as we are progressing towards our transformation. Gradually redeploying capital should contribute to the resumption of profitable loan growth. Being mindful of the significant investments required to achieve our transformation, we remain committed to improving efficiency.

ANALYSIS OF CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

The following tables show condensed consolidated results on a reported and on an adjusted basis.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED RESULTS - REPORTED BASIS

	For t	he th	ree months e	ended		For the six m	nonth	s ended
In thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts (Unaudited)	April 30 2019		January 31 2019		April 30 2018	 April 30 2019		April 30 2018
Net interest income	\$ 164,564	\$	172,600	\$	177,112	\$ 337,164	\$	355,747
Other income	75,317		69,738		82,775	145,055		171,142
Total revenue	239,881		242,338		259,887	482,219		526,889
Amortization of net premium on purchased financial instruments	390		442		601	832		1,254
Provision for credit losses	9,200		10,500		9,500	19,700		21,500
Non-interest expenses	183,131		184,676		175,554	367,807		353,099
Income before income taxes	47,160		46,720		74,232	93,880		151,036
Income taxes	3,847		6,464		15,037	10,311		32,094
Net income	\$ 43,313	\$	40,256	\$	59,195	\$ 83,569	\$	118,942
Preferred share dividends, including applicable taxes	3,256		3,257		3,253	6,513		7,532
Net income available to common shareholders	\$ 40,057	\$	36,999	\$	55,942	\$ 77,056	\$	111,410
Diluted earnings per share	\$ 0.95	\$	0.88	\$	1.34	\$ 1.83	\$	2.74

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED RESULTS – ADJUSTED BASIS⁽¹⁾

	For t	he th	iree months e	nths ended			For the six m	s ended	
In thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts (Unaudited)	April 30 2019		January 31 2019		April 30 2018		April 30 2019		April 30 2018
Net interest income	\$ 164,564	\$	172,600	\$	177,112	\$	337,164	\$	355,747
Other income	75,317		69,738		82,775		145,055		171,142
Total revenue	239,881		242,338		259,887		482,219		526,889
Provision for credit losses	9,200		10,500		9,500		19,700		21,500
Adjusted non-interest expenses	176,255		179,237		169,059		355,492		342,104
Adjusted income before income taxes	54,426		52,601		81,328		107,027		163,285
Adjusted income taxes	5,700		7,948		16,703		13,648		35,443
Adjusted net income	\$ 48,726	\$	44,653	\$	64,625	\$	93,379	\$	127,842
Preferred share dividends, including applicable taxes	3,256		3,257		3,253		6,513		7,532
Adjusted net income available to common shareholders	\$ 45,470	\$	41,396	\$	61,372	\$	86,866	\$	120,310
Adjusted diluted earnings per share	\$ 1.08	\$	0.98	\$	1.47	\$	2.06	\$	2.96

(1) Refer to the Non-GAAP and Key Performance Measures section.

THREE MONTHS ENDED APRIL 30, 2019 COMPARED WITH THREE MONTHS ENDED APRIL 30, 2018

Net income was \$43.3 million or \$0.95 diluted per share for the second quarter of 2019, compared with \$59.2 million or \$1.34 diluted per share for the second quarter of 2018. Adjusted net income was \$48.7 million for the second quarter of 2019, down 25% from \$64.6 million for the second quarter of 2018, while adjusted diluted earnings per share were \$1.08, down 27% compared with \$1.47 for the second quarter of 2018.

Total revenue

Total revenue decreased by \$20.0 million or 8% to \$239.9 million for the second quarter of 2019 from \$259.9 million for the second quarter of 2018.

Net interest income decreased by \$12.5 million or 7% to \$164.6 million for the second quarter of 2019, from \$177.1 million for the second quarter of 2018. The decrease was mainly due to lower year-over-year loan volumes. Over the last 18 months, we have been repositioning our portfolio to further increase the proportion of higher yielding loans to business customers in order to optimize capital allocation. As we continue to effect this strategy, we anticipate to see margins gradually improving. However, given the labour situation, we have been carrying a significantly higher level of liquid assets which has had a negative impact on interest margins and income. As the new collective agreement was signed at the end of March, we have started to gradually decrease the level of liquid assets, while remaining prudent as we pursue our transformation plan. Net interest margin stood at 1.77% for the second quarter of 2019, a

10 Laurentian Bank Financial Group Second Quarter 2019 Report to Shareholders

decrease of 5 basis points compared with the second quarter of 2018, mainly as a result of the higher level of lower-yielding liquid assets as noted above.

Other income decreased by \$7.5 million or 9% to \$75.3 million for the second quarter of 2019, compared with \$82.8 million for the second quarter of 2018. In the second quarter of 2018, other income included a \$5.3 million net gain on the sale of the agricultural commercial loan portfolio. Fees and commissions on loans and deposits decreased by \$2.4 million compared with the second quarter of 2018, mainly driven by lower deposit and payment service charges as clients gradually modify their banking behavior. Commissions on sales of mutual funds decreased by \$1.1 million compared with the second quarter of 2018. These decreases were offset by higher market related revenues, including securities gains and income from treasury and financial market operations, which increased by a combined \$4.1 million compared with the second quarter of 2018. This increase was mostly driven by higher gains on inventory held for brokerage activities and to a lesser extent, higher gains on other trading activities.

Amortization of net premium on purchased financial instruments

For the second quarter of 2019, amortization of net premium on purchased financial instruments amounted to \$0.4 million, compared with \$0.6 million for the second quarter of 2018. Refer to Note 3.3 to the 2018 annual consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Provision for credit losses

The provision for credit losses amounted to \$9.2 million for the second quarter of 2019 compared with \$9.5 million for the second quarter of 2018. During the quarter, the Bank continued to benefit from the ongoing favorable economic conditions, as well as from the overall underlying good credit quality of the loan portfolios. Refer to the Risk Management section for additional information.

Non-interest expenses

Non-interest expenses amounted to \$183.1 million for the second quarter of 2019, an increase of \$7.6 million or 4% compared with the second quarter of 2018. Adjusted non-interest expenses increased similarly to \$176.3 million for the second quarter of 2019.

Salaries and employee benefits decreased by \$1.1 million to \$90.5 million for the second quarter of 2019, compared with the second quarter of 2018, mainly as a result of lower salaries from lower headcount, and despite higher share-based compensation.

Premises and technology costs increased by \$2.6 million or 5% to \$50.6 million for the second quarter of 2019 compared with the second quarter of 2018, mainly as a result of higher technology costs incurred to run concurrent core-banking platforms, as well as to enhance IT service levels and security on an ongoing basis. Higher amortization expense for the completed Phase 1 of the core-banking system program also contributed to the increase. This was partly offset by lower rent expenses following the move to the new corporate office in Montreal in the fourth quarter of 2018.

Other non-interest expenses amounted to \$38.6 million for the second quarter of 2019, an increase of \$6.1 million or 19% compared with the second quarter of 2018. This increase was mainly due to higher regulatory expenses, including year-over-year increases in costs related to deposit insurance, new IFRS standards implementation, anti-money laundering and regulatory compliance management, as well as to higher professional fees and labour relation costs related to the new collective agreement.

Restructuring charges amounted to \$3.4 million for the second quarter of 2019 and mainly included expenses for the optimization of the Retail Services operations, as well as for the streamlining of certain back-office and corporate functions. Costs related to the restructuring measures of \$11.7 million for the second quarter of 2019, mainly related to severance charges, were partly offset by a \$4.8 million curtailment gain on pension plans and other post-employment benefits obligations and reversals of provisions amounting to \$3.5 million.

Costs related to business combinations were nil for the second quarter of 2019 as the integration of the equipment financing operations acquired in 2016 was substantially completed in the second quarter of 2018.

Efficiency ratio

The adjusted efficiency ratio was 73.5% for the second quarter of 2019, compared with 65.1% for the second quarter of 2018. As the Bank invests in its transformation, this ratio is currently impacted by lower revenues due to a higher level of liquid assets and by the higher level of expenses. Therefore, as previously mentioned, this ratio is expected to remain high over the next few quarters. Operating dual core-banking platforms and implementing new compliance and regulatory risk-related projects as noted above are necessitating additional expenditures. The adjusted operating leverage was also negative year-over-year. We are still targeting an efficiency ratio of below 63% in 2021, and are continuing to aim for positive operating leverage.

The efficiency ratio, on a reported basis, was 76.3% for the second quarter of 2019, compared with 67.6% for the second quarter of 2018, essentially for the same reasons as noted above.

Income taxes

For the quarter ended April 30, 2019, the income tax expense was \$3.8 million and the effective tax rate was 8.2%. The lower tax rate, compared to the statutory rate, mainly resulted from a lower taxation level on revenues from foreign operations, including a \$1.5 million favorable adjustment related to insurance activities, as well as from the favourable effect of holding investments in Canadian securities that generate non-taxable dividend income. For the quarter ended April 30, 2018, the income tax expense was \$15.0 million and the effective tax rate was 20.3%. The lower tax rate, compared to the statutory rate, resulted from the same items as mentioned above. The lower tax rate for the second quarter of 2019, when compared to the second quarter of 2018, mainly resulted from the proportionally lower domestic income.

SIX MONTHS ENDED APRIL 30, 2019 COMPARED WITH SIX MONTHS ENDED APRIL 30, 2018

Net income was \$83.6 million or \$1.83 diluted per share for the six months ended April 30, 2019, compared with \$118.9 million or \$2.74 diluted per share for the six months ended April 30, 2018. Adjusted net income was \$93.4 million for the six months ended April 30, 2019, down 27% from \$127.8 million for the six months ended April 30, 2018, while adjusted diluted earnings per share were \$2.06 for the six months ended April 30, 2019, down 30% from \$2.96 for the six months ended April 30, 2018. The decrease in earnings per share, compared with the six months ended April 30, 2018, is further detailed below and also reflects the full period effect of the common share issuance completed at the beginning of fiscal 2018.

Total revenue

Total revenue decreased by \$44.7 million or 8% to \$482.2 million for the six months ended April 30, 2019 from \$526.9 million for the six months ended April 30, 2018.

Net interest income decreased by \$18.6 million or 5% to \$337.2 million for the six months ended April 30, 2019, from \$355.7 million for the six months ended April 30, 2018. The decrease was mainly due to lower year-over-year loan volumes. As noted above, we have been repositioning our portfolio over the last 18 months to optimize capital allocation. However, the higher level of liquid assets since the beginning of the year has hampered our ability to improve interest income. As changes in the portfolio mix continue, and we gradually lower the level of liquid assets, we anticipate to see margins improving over the remainder of the year. Net interest margin stood at 1.78% for the six months ended April 30, 2019, essentially unchanged compared with 1.79% for the six months ended April 30, 2018.

Other income decreased by \$26.1 million or 15% to \$145.1 million for the six months ended April 30, 2019, compared with \$171.1 million for the six months ended April 30, 2018. Fees and commissions on loans and deposits decreased by \$6.7 million compared with the six months ended April 30, 2018, mainly driven by lower deposit and payment service charges as clients gradually modify their banking behavior. Fees and commissions on brokerage operations decreased by \$4.1 million compared with the six months ended April 30, 2018, mainly driven by lower deposit and payment service charges as clients gradually modify their banking behavior. Fees and commissions on brokerage operations decreased by \$4.1 million compared with the six months ended April 30, 2018, as a result of a lower activity level given poor market conditions at the outset of the year. Income from treasury and financial market operations, was also affected and decreased by \$3.1 million compared with the six months ended April 30, 2018, mainly as a result of lower gains on securities. Other income for the six months ended April 30, 2018 also included a \$5.3 million net gain on the sale of the agricultural commercial loan portfolio.

Amortization of net premium on purchased financial instruments

For the six months ended April 30, 2019, the amortization of net premium on purchased financial instruments amounted to \$0.8 million, compared with \$1.3 million for the six months ended April 30, 2018. Refer to the Non-GAAP and Key Performance Measures section for additional information.

Provision for credit losses

The provision for credit losses decreased by \$1.8 million or 8% to \$19.7 million for the six months ended April 30, 2019 compared with \$21.5 million for the six months ended April 30, 2018. This reflects the overall underlying good credit quality of the loan portfolios as well as lower year-over-year loan volumes. Refer to the Risk Management section for additional information.

Non-interest expenses

Non-interest expenses increased by \$14.7 million or 4% to \$367.8 million for the six months ended April 30, 2019, compared with \$353.1 million for the six months ended April 30, 2018. Adjusted non-interest expenses increased by \$13.4 million or 4% to \$355.5 million for the six months ended April 30, 2019, compared with \$342.1 million for the six months ended April 30, 2018.

Salaries and employee benefits decreased by \$2.6 million or 1% to \$182.6 million for the six months ended April 30, 2019, compared with the six months ended April 30, 2018, mainly due to lower salaries from lower headcount and lower pension costs, partly offset by higher share-based compensation.

Premises and technology costs increased by \$4.4 million or 5% to \$99.6 million for the six months ended April 30, 2019, compared with the six months ended April 30, 2018, mainly as a result of higher technology costs and higher amortization expense for the completed Phase 1 of the core-banking system program, partly offset by lower rent expenses as mentioned above.

Other non-interest expenses increased by \$12.6 million or 19% to \$80.2 million for the six months ended April 30, 2019, compared with the six months ended April 30, 2018. This increase is mainly due to higher regulatory expenses and higher professional fees, as noted above.

12 Laurentian Bank Financial Group Second Quarter 2019 Report to Shareholders

Restructuring charges amounted to \$5.4 million for the six months ended April 30, 2019 and, as mentioned above, mainly included expenses for the optimization of the Retail Services operations and for the streamlining of certain back-office and corporate functions. Costs related to the restructuring measures of \$13.7 million for the six months ended April 30, 2019, mainly related to severance charges, were partly offset by a \$4.8 million curtailment gain on pension plans and other post-employment benefits obligations and reversals of provisions amounting to \$3.5 million.

Costs related to business combinations were nil for the six months ended April 30, 2019 as the integration of the equipment financing operations acquired in 2016 was substantially completed in the second quarter of 2018.

Efficiency ratio

The adjusted efficiency ratio was 73.7% for the six months ended April 30, 2019, compared with 64.9% for the six months ended April 30, 2018. The adjusted operating leverage was negative year-over-year. The efficiency ratio, on a reported basis, was 76.3% for the six months ended April 30, 2019, compared with 67.0% for the six months ended April 30, 2018, essentially for the same reasons as noted above.

Income taxes

For the six months ended April 30, 2019, the income tax expense was \$10.3 million and the effective tax rate was 11.0%. The lower tax rate, compared to the statutory rate, mainly resulted from a lower taxation level on revenues from foreign operations, as well as from the favourable effect of holding investments in Canadian securities that generate non-taxable dividend income. For the six months ended April 30, 2018, the income tax expense was \$32.1 million and the effective tax rate was 21.2%. The lower tax rate, compared to the statutory rate, resulted mainly from the aforementioned factors. The lower tax rate for six months ended April 30, 2019, when compared with the six months ended April 30, 2018, mainly resulted from the proportionally lower level of domestic income.

THREE MONTHS ENDED APRIL 30, 2019 COMPARED WITH THREE MONTHS ENDED JANUARY 31, 2019

Net income was \$43.3 million or \$0.95 diluted per share for the second quarter of 2019 compared with \$40.3 million or \$0.88 diluted per share for the first quarter of 2019. Adjusted net income was \$48.7 million or \$1.08 diluted per share for the second quarter of 2019, compared with \$44.7 million or \$0.98 diluted per share for the first quarter of 2019.

Total revenue decreased by \$2.5 million to \$239.9 million for the second quarter of 2019, compared with \$242.3 million for the previous quarter. Net interest income decreased by \$8.0 million sequentially to \$164.6 million, essentially as a result of the negative impact of three fewer days in the second quarter. Net interest margin stood at 1.77% for the second quarter of 2019 compared with 1.80% for the first quarter of 2019, mainly as a result of the higher liquid assets and lower loan volumes, as noted above.

Other income increased by \$5.6 million or 8% to \$75.3 million for the second quarter of 2019, compared with \$69.7 million for the previous quarter. The second quarter of 2019 benefited from stronger capital market related revenues, mostly driven by higher gains on inventory held for brokerage activities and, to a lesser extent, from other trading activities.

The line item "Amortization of net premium on purchased financial instruments" amounted to \$0.4 million for the second quarter of 2019, essentially unchanged from the first quarter of 2019. Refer to Note 3.3 to the 2018 annual consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Provision for credit losses totalled \$9.2 million for the second quarter of 2019, a \$1.3 million decrease compared with \$10.5 million for the first quarter of 2019. Credit losses for the first quarter of 2019 were impacted by a \$4.5 million additional provision on a single syndicated commercial exposure identified during the fourth quarter of 2018. Refer to the Risk Management section for additional information.

Non-interest expenses decreased by \$1.5 million to \$183.1 million for the second quarter of 2019 from \$184.7 million in the first quarter of 2019. Adjusted non-interest expenses decreased by \$3.0 million and amounted to \$176.3 million in the second quarter of 2019, compared with \$179.2 million in the first quarter of 2019. The decrease is mainly due to lower salaries given the fewer number of days in the second quarter and sequentially lower other expenses.

FINANCIAL CONDITION

CONDENSED BALANCE SHEET

In thousands of Canadian dollars (Unaudited)	As at April 30 2019	As at October 31 2018
Assets		
Cash and deposits with banks	\$ 393,154	\$ 490,727
Securities	6,052,301	6,061,144
Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements	2,849,403	3,652,498
Loans and acceptances, net	34,015,546	34,301,662
Other assets	1,382,963	1,388,652
	\$ 44,693,367	\$ 45,894,683
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity		
Deposits	\$ 27,079,197	\$ 28,006,572
Other liabilities	6,854,334	7,255,394
Debt related to securitization activities	7,859,483	7,787,753
Subordinated debt	348,930	348,762
Shareholders' equity	2,551,423	2,496,202
	\$ 44,693,367	\$ 45,894,683

As at April 30, 2019, total assets amounted to \$44.7 billion, a decrease of \$1.2 billion compared with \$45.9 billion as at October 31, 2018. This mainly reflects a decrease in liquid assets of \$0.9 billion and a decrease in loans of \$0.3 billion, as explained below.

LIQUID ASSETS

Liquid assets consist of cash, deposits with other banks, securities and securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements. As at April 30, 2019, these assets totalled \$9.3 billion, a decrease of \$0.9 billion compared with October 31, 2018. Overall, we continue to prudently manage the level of liquid assets as we are progressing on our various initiatives. The Bank benefits from well diversified funding sources and the current level of cash resources is sufficient to meet obligations, under both normal and stressed conditions.

LOANS

Loans and bankers' acceptances, net of allowances, stood at \$34.0 billion as at April 30, 2019, a decrease of \$0.3 billion since October 31, 2018. This is consistent with the continued optimization of our portfolio mix aimed at improving capital allocation and returns on risk-weighted assets. Variances are further explained by the items outlined below.

Personal loans amounted to \$5.1 billion and decreased by \$0.3 billion since October 31, 2018, mainly as a result of the continued reduction in the investment loan portfolio, reflecting the ongoing consumer behavior to reduce leverage.

Residential mortgage loans stood at \$16.3 billion as at April 30, 2019, a decrease of \$0.7 billion since October 31, 2018. This mostly reflects a gradual decrease in origination as we focus on higher yielding commercial loans in order to optimize product mix. The decrease was partly offset by the acquisition of mortgage loans originated by third-parties as part of our program to optimize the usage of National Housing Act mortgage-backed securities (NHA MBS) allocations.

Commercial loans and acceptances amounted to \$12.7 billion as at April 30, 2019. In the first half of 2019, we generated growth of approximately \$0.8 billion or 7% excluding loan sales, mainly due to inventory financing volumes through NCF and real estate financing loans. As previously mentioned, we sold lower-yielding commercial loans amounting to \$105 million at the beginning of the year, which concluded the realignment of our commercial loan portfolio. As a result, the commercial loan portfolio increased by 6% net of loan sales since October 31, 2018.

OTHER ASSETS

Other assets were essentially unchanged compared with October 31, 2018 and stood at \$1.4 billion as at April 30, 2019.

LIABILITIES

Deposits decreased by \$0.9 billion to \$27.1 billion as at April 30, 2019 compared with October 31, 2018, as we optimized our funding and in light of the reduction in total assets. Personal deposits stood at \$20.6 billion as at April 30, 2019, down \$0.4 billion compared with October 31, 2018, driven by lower term deposits sourced through independent brokers and advisors. Business and other deposits decreased by \$0.5 billion to \$6.5 billion since the beginning of the year. Personal deposits represented 76% of total deposits as at April 30, 2019, compared with 75% as at October 31, 2018, and contribute to our solid liquidity position.

Debt related to securitization activities increased by \$0.1 billion compared with October 31, 2018 and stood at \$7.9 billion as at April 30, 2019. New debt issuances related to securitized residential mortgage loans through the CMHC programs and securitized finance lease receivables during the second quarter of 2019 were partly offset by maturities of liabilities related to the Canada Mortgage Bond program, as well as normal repayments.

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Shareholders' equity stood at \$2,551.4 million as at April 30, 2019, compared with \$2,496.2 million as at October 31, 2018. As mentioned in the Basis of Presentation section of this MD&A, the adoption of IFRS 9 resulted in a decrease of \$7.7 million of shareholders' equity as at November 1, 2018. This was offset by an increase in shareholder's equity as a result of the net income contribution, net of declared dividends, an increase in AOCI, as well as by the issuance of common shares under the Shareholder Dividend Reinvestment and Share Purchase plan. For additional information, please refer to the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity.

Our book value per common share was \$53.97 as at April 30, 2019 compared with \$53.72 as at October 31, 2018. There were 42,322,771 common shares outstanding as at May 23, 2019.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

REGULATORY CAPITAL

The Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions Canada (OSFI) requires banks to meet minimum risk-based capital ratios drawn on the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS) capital framework, commonly referred to as Basel III. Under OSFI's *Capital Adequacy Requirements* (CAR) Guideline, our minimum Common Equity Tier 1, Tier 1 and Total capital ratios are set at 7.0%, 8.5% and 10.5%, respectively, including capital conservation buffers. Refer to the section "Capital Management" on page 36 of our 2018 Annual Report for additional information on our regulatory capital.

As detailed in the table below, the Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1), Tier 1 and Total capital ratios stood at 9.0%, 10.2% and 12.2%, respectively, as at April 30, 2019. These ratios exceeded all current requirements.

REGULATORY CAPITAL

In thousands of Canadian dollars, except percentage amounts (Unaudited)	As at April 30 2019		As at October 31 2018
Regulatory capital			
Common Equity Tier 1 capital	\$ 1,834,845	\$	1,812,007
Tier 1 capital	\$ 2,078,883	\$	2,056,045
Total capital	\$ 2,492,382	\$	2,472,788
Total risk-weighted assets ⁽¹⁾	\$ 20,475,987	\$	20,238,803
Regulatory capital ratios			
Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio	9.0%	,	9.0%
Tier 1 capital ratio	10.2%	•	10.2%
Total capital ratio	12.2%		12.2%

(1) Using the Standardized Approach to determine credit risk and to account for operational risk.

The CET1 capital ratio stood at 9.0% as at April 30, 2019, compared with 9.0% as at October 31, 2018. As mentioned above, the adoption of IFRS 9 resulted in a decrease of 4 bps of the CET1 capital ratio as at November 1, 2018. During the six months ended April 30, 2019, we also continued to manage asset growth tightly to balance the product mix profitability maximization and the related risk-weighted exposures to maintain strong capital ratios.

Regulatory capital developments

Revisions to the Standardised Approach for credit risk

We use the Standardized Approach to determine credit risk capital and to account for operational risk. Currently, our capital requirements for credit risk under the Standardized Approach are not calculated on the same basis as larger Canadian financial institutions which predominantly use the more favourable AIRB Approach.

On December 7, 2017, the BCBS issued a document entitled Basel III: Finalising post-crisis reforms. This document sets out the BCBS's finalisation of the Basel III framework and follows the BCBS consultative documents issued in 2014 and 2015. It complements the initial phase of Basel III reforms previously finalized by the Committee. A key objective of the revisions incorporated into the framework is to reduce excessive variability of risk-weighted assets and improve the comparability of banks' capital ratios. The new framework revises the Standardized Approach by improving its granularity and risk sensitivity by modifying the risk weight associated to various categories of assets. The changes also include modifications to the AIRB Approach, such as by placing limits on certain inputs used to calculate capital requirements and introducing a new more robust risk-sensitive floor based on the Committee's revised

Basel III standardized approaches, as well as to the methods used to measure regulatory capital for operational risk. Management is currently assessing the potential impact of the adoption of this new framework, which remains subject to OSFI's issuing its related guideline.

The implementation of the AIRB Approach remains one of our key initiatives that should strengthen our credit risk management, optimize regulatory capital and provide a level playing field for credit underwriting activities. As mentioned above, we will be slowing down the AIRB initiative by 12 to 18 months and are now planning the implementation between the end of 2021 and the first half of 2022, subject to regulatory approval, with benefits to be realized in 2022 and beyond.

BASEL III LEVERAGE RATIO

The Basel III capital reforms introduced a non-risk based leverage ratio requirement to act as a supplementary measure to the riskbased capital requirements. Under OSFI's Leverage Requirements Guideline, federally regulated deposit-taking institutions are expected to maintain a Basel III leverage ratio that meets or exceeds 3% at all times. The leverage ratio is defined as the Tier 1 capital divided by unweighted on-balance sheet assets and off-balance sheet commitments, derivatives and securities financing transactions, as defined within the requirements.

As detailed in the table below, the leverage ratio stood at 4.6% as at April 30, 2019 and exceeded current requirements.

BASEL III LEVERAGE RATIO

In thousands of Canadian dollars, except percentage amounts (Unaudited)	As at April 30 2019		As at October 31 2018
Tier 1 capital	\$ 2,078,883	\$	2,056,045
Total exposures	\$ 45,581,442	\$	46,042,387
Basel III leverage ratio	4.6%	0	4.5%

DIVIDENDS

On May 14, 2019, the Board of Directors declared the regular dividend on the various series of preferred shares to shareholders of record on June 7, 2019.

On May 29, 2019, the Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend of \$0.66 per common share, payable on August 1, 2019, to shareholders of record on July 2, 2019. This quarterly dividend is up 5% compared with the dividend declared one year ago. The Board of Directors also determined that shares attributed under the Shareholder Dividend Reinvestment and Share Purchase Plan will be made in common shares issued from treasury at a 2% discount.

COMMON SHARE DIVIDENDS AND PAYOUT RATIO

	For	the tl	hree months er	nded			For t	he years ended	
In Canadian dollars, except payout ratios (Unaudited)	April 30 2019		January 31 2019		April 30 2018	October 31 2018		October 31 2017	October 31 2016
Dividends declared per common share	\$ 0.65	\$	0.65	\$	0.63	\$ 2.54	\$	2.46	\$ 2.36
Dividend payout ratio	68.5%		73.9%		47.0%	49.6%		45.7%	53.1%
Adjusted dividend payout ratio ^[1]	60.3%		66.1%		42.8%	45.9%		40.5%	42.4%

(1) Refer to the Non-GAAP and Key Performance Measures section.

RISK MANAGEMENT

We are exposed to various types of risks owing to the nature of our activities. These risks are mainly related to the use of financial instruments. In order to manage these risks, controls such as risk management policies and various risk limits have been implemented. These measures aim to optimize the risk/return ratio in all operating segments. Refer to the section "Risk Appetite and Risk Management Framework" on page 41 of our 2018 Annual Report for additional information.

CREDIT RISK

The following sections provide further details on the credit quality of our loan portfolios.

PROVISION FOR CREDIT LOSSES⁽¹⁾

	For t	he thi	ree months	ended		For the six r	nonth	s ended
In thousands of Canadian dollars, except percentage amounts (Unaudited)	 April 30 2019		January 31 2019		April 30 2018	April 30 2019		April 30 2018
Personal	\$ 4,265	\$	4,443	\$	5,697	\$ 8,708	\$	12,667
Residential mortgage	505		(52)		(201)	453		1,383
Commercial ⁽²⁾	4,430		6,109		4,004	10,539		7,450
	\$ 9,200	\$	10,500	\$	9,500	\$ 19,700	\$	21,500
As a % of average loans and acceptances	0.11%		0.12%		0.11%	0.12%		0.12%

(1) Established in accordance with IFRS 9 in 2019 and in accordance with IAS 39 in 2018.

(2) Including customers' liabilities under acceptances.

Provision for credit losses

The provision for credit losses decreased by \$1.3 million sequentially to \$9.2 million for the second quarter of 2019, and by \$0.3 million compared with the same quarter a year ago. For the second quarter of 2018, loan losses included the favorable impact of the reduction in allowances resulting from the sale of the agricultural commercial loan portfolio, as well as updates to risk model parameters for \$2.8 million. Overall, the continued low level of credit losses reflects the underlying good credit quality of the loan portfolios. Economic conditions remained sound during the period.

The provision for credit losses decreased by \$1.8 million to \$19.7 million for the six months ended April 30, 2019, compared with \$21.5 million for the six months ended April 30, 2018. The level of provisions for the six months ended April 30, 2019 takes into account the impact of releases related to the reduced level of residential mortgage loans and personal loans. It also reflects the impact of the sale of certain commercial loans at the beginning of the year.

Credit losses on personal loans for the second quarter of 2019 decreased by \$0.2 million sequentially and decreased by \$1.4 million year-over-year, mainly as a result of lower charges on the credit card portfolios. For the six months ended April 30, 2019, credit losses on personal loans decreased by \$4.0 million year-over-year, mainly as a result of the aforementioned lower charges.

Credit losses on residential mortgage loans for the second quarter of 2019 increased by \$0.6 million sequentially and by \$0.7 million year-over-year. For the second quarter of 2018, credit losses on residential mortgage loans included the favourable impact of updates to risk model parameters. For the six months ended April 30, 2019, credit losses on residential mortgage loans decreased by \$0.9 million year-over-year, in part as a result of lower loan volumes. The level of credit losses remains at historically low levels, owing to favourable credit conditions and our strong underwriting criteria.

Credit losses on commercial loans for the second quarter of 2019 decreased by \$1.7 million sequentially, mainly due to the \$4.5 million additional provision recorded in the first quarter of 2019 on a single syndicated commercial exposure identified during the fourth quarter of 2018. Compared to the second quarter of 2018, credit losses increased by \$0.4 million. For the second quarter of 2018, credit losses on commercial loans included the favourable impact of updates to risk model parameters and of the sale of the agricultural commercial loan portfolio. For the six months ended April 30, 2019, credit losses on commercial loans increased by \$3.1 million year-over-year, mainly due to the additional provision on the syndicated commercial exposure noted above.

The provision for credit losses expressed as a percentage of average loans and acceptances was 11 basis points for the second quarter of 2019. Over the medium term, the loss ratio should trend gradually higher as the Bank's loan portfolio mix evolves.

IMPAIRED LOANS⁽¹⁾

In thousands of Canadian dollars, except percentage amounts (Unaudited)	As at April 30 2019	As at October 31 2018
Gross impaired loans		
Personal	\$ 26,237 \$	19,805
Residential mortgages	53,085	37,134
Commercial ^[2]	107,619	124,331
	186,941	181,270
Allowances for loan losses against impaired loans (Stage 3)	(44,583)	(38,178)
Net impaired loans	\$ 142,358 \$	143,092
Impaired loans as a % of loans and acceptances		
Gross	0.55%	0.53%
Net	0.42%	0.42%
Allowances for loan losses against other loans		
Stage 1	\$ (30,563)	n/a
Stage 2	(27,782)	n/a
	\$ (58,345) \$	(54,848)

(1) Established in accordance with IFRS 9 as at April 30, 2019 and in accordance with IAS 39 as at October 31, 2018.

(2) Including customers' liabilities under acceptances.

Gross impaired loans amounted to \$186.9 million as at April 30, 2019, up \$5.7 million or 3% compared with October 31, 2018 mostly due to the impact of adopting IFRS 9. Under IFRS 9, all loans classified in Stage 3 of the ECL model are impaired loans, including \$14.4 million of insured residential mortgage loans as at April 30, 2019 that were not considered impaired under IAS 39.

Allowances for loan losses against impaired loans increased by \$6.4 million compared with October 31, 2018, mainly as a result of adjustments to a single commercial loan exposure and as a result of migrations in personal loans. Allowances for loan losses against other loans amounted to \$58.3 million as at April 30, 2019, up \$3.5 million compared with October 31, 2018, essentially due to the impact of adopting IFRS 9. Under the new impairment approach, expected credit losses for loans which experienced significant increases in credit risk must now be determined using lifetime probabilities of default, which resulted in increases in allowances for personal loans and to a lesser extent for commercial loans. These increases were partly offset by a decrease in allowances for residential mortgage loans which now better reflect the Bank's portfolio characteristics. The Bank remains comfortably provisioned as overall credit conditions continue to provide strong support to lending activities. In addition, the Bank's loan portfolio is well collateralized, which reduces potential exposures. See Notes 5 and 7 to the Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

LIQUIDITY AND FUNDING RISK

Liquidity and funding risk represents the possibility that the Bank may not be able to gather sufficient cash resources when required and on reasonable conditions, to meet its financial obligations. Financial obligations include obligations to depositors and suppliers, as well as lending commitments, investments and posting collateral. We continue to maintain liquidity and funding that is appropriate for the execution of our strategy, with liquidity and funding risk remaining well within our approved limits.

Management monitors cash resources daily and ensures that liquidity indicators are within established limits. It pays particular attention to deposit and loan maturities, as well as to funding availability and demand when planning financing. A reserve of unencumbered liquid assets that are readily available to face contingencies is maintained and constitutes our liquidity buffer. This reserve does not factor in the availability of the central bank's emergency liquidity facilities. Requirements are based on scenarios evaluating required liquid assets necessary to cover predetermined rates of withdrawal of wholesale financing and retail deposits over specified periods.

Management maintains a stable volume of base deposits originating from our retail, commercial and broker clientele, as well as diversified wholesale financing sources. Limits on funding sources are monitored by the Executive Committee and the Board of Directors. Funding strategies also include loan securitization and the issuance of equity or debt instruments through capital markets.

A liquidity contingency plan is prepared and reviewed on a regular basis. It guides our actions and responses to potential liquidity crises.

The Bank benefits from well diversified sources of deposits, including personal deposits sourced through our branch network and through independent advisors and brokers. We also rely on a well established institutional funding program. Those contribute to a diversified, strong and stable liquidity position. Furthermore, given current market conditions, we continue to prudently manage the level of liquid assets and maintain a healthy level of liquidity to meet current obligations and support our key strategic initiatives.

Regulatory requirements concerning liquidity

We also manage the Bank's liquidity to comply with the regulatory liquidity metrics in the OSFI domestic Liquidity Adequacy Requirements (LAR) Guideline. These regulatory metrics include the Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR), drawn on the BCBS international Basel III liquidity framework, and the OSFI-designed Net Cumulative Cash Flow (NCCF) supervisory tool. The LCR requires that banks maintain a sufficient stock of high-quality liquid assets to meet net short-term financial obligations over a thirty day period in an acute stress scenario.

The Bank remained compliant with the LAR Guideline throughout the three months ended April 30, 2019.

The aforementioned Basel III liquidity framework also outlines the Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) as a minimum regulatory standard. The NSFR measures the proportion of long-term assets which are funded by long-term, stable funding. Based on implementation progress at the international level, OSFI has determined that it will target a revised NSFR implementation date for Domestic Systemically Important Banks (D-SIBs) of January 2020. We are awaiting confirmation from OSFI for non D-SIBs.

Proposed changes to the Liquidity Adequacy Requirements Guideline - Public Consultation

OSFI expects deposit-taking institutions to have a liquidity risk management framework that allows them to maintain sufficient liquidity to withstand a stressed environment. To support this objective, OSFI has issued at the beginning of February 2019 proposed revisions to the LAR Guideline. The guideline has also been revised to ensure OSFI's liquidity metrics remain sound and prudent in an environment where certain funding sources exhibit higher risk of withdrawal. OSFI is targeting implementation of the proposed revisions for January 1, 2020. Management is currently assessing the potential impact of the adoption of these revisions, which remain subject to OSFI's issuing its revised guideline.

Maturity of financial liabilities

The following table summarizes the remaining contractual maturity for significant financial liabilities as at April 30, 2019 and October 31, 2018. The amounts disclosed in the following table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities and exclude premiums, discounts or mark-to-market adjustments recognized in the instruments' carrying values as at the balance sheet date.

MATURITY OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

					Та	rm		As	at April 30, 2019
In thousands of Canadian dollars (Unaudited)		Demand and notice	 Under 1 year	1 to 3 years	3 to 5 years	Over 5 years	Total		
Deposits									
Personal	\$	4,315,149	\$ 6,828,345	\$	6,960,402	\$	2,449,329	\$ 76,332	\$ 20,629,557
Business, banks and other		1,772,218	2,710,547		1,221,259		780,077	4,723	6,488,824
Obligations related to securities sold short		_	2,168,836		_		_	_	2,168,836
Obligations related to securities sold under repurchase agreements		_	3,186,113		_		_	_	3,186,113
Debt related to securitization activities		_	1,702,701		3,643,318		1,918,715	609,687	7,874,421
Subordinated debt		_	_		_		350,000	_	350,000
Derivatives ⁽¹⁾		_	7,979		8,321		3,581	3,481	23,362
	\$	6,087,367	\$ 16,604,521	\$	11,833,300	\$	5,501,702	\$ 694,223	\$ 40,721,113

As at October 31, 2018

		Term										
In thousands of Canadian dollars (Unaudited)		Demand and notice		Under 1 year		1 to 3 years		3 to 5 years		Over 5 years	Total	
Deposits												
Personal	\$	4,501,504	\$	7,273,402	\$	6,548,714	\$	2,620,368	\$	102,482	\$ 21,046,470	
Business, banks and other		1,999,377		2,965,403		1,372,278		779,743		3,017	7,119,818	
Obligations related to securities sold short		_		3,008,666		_		_		_	3,008,666	
Obligations related to securities sold under repurchase agreements		_		2,515,823		_		_		_	2,515,823	
Debt related to securitization activities		_		1,546,129		3,610,838		2,366,379		370,512	7,893,858	
Subordinated debt		_		_		_		350,000		_	350,000	
Derivatives ⁽¹⁾		_		24,928		33,135		13,610		6,123	77,796	
	\$	6,500,881	\$	17,334,351	\$	11,564,965	\$	6,130,100	\$	482,134	\$ 42,012,431	

 The obligations related to derivatives represent solely the theoretical payments related to derivatives designated as cash flow hedges and used for interest rate risk management whose net fair values were negative as at April 30, 2019 and October 31, 2018.

Credit ratings

On December 12, 2018, DBRS confirmed our A (low) rating on deposits and senior debt and R-1 (low) rating on short-term instruments. In addition, DBRS revised its trends on long-term ratings from negative to stable.

MARKET RISK

Market risk represents the financial losses that the Bank could incur following unfavourable fluctuations in the value of financial instruments subsequent to changes in the underlying factors used to measure them, such as interest rates, currency exchange rates or equity prices. This risk is inherent to the Bank's financing, investment, trading and asset and liability management (ALM) activities.

The purpose of ALM activities is to control structural interest rate risk, which corresponds to the potential negative impact of interest rate movements on the Bank's net interest income and economic value of its capital. Dynamic management of structural risk is intended to maximize the Bank's profitability while preserving the economic value of common shareholders' equity. As at April 30, 2019, the effect on the economic value of common shareholders' equity and on net interest income before taxes of a sudden and sustained 1% increase in interest rates was as follows.

STRUCTURAL INTEREST RATE SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

In thousands of Canadian dollars (Unaudited)	As at April 30 2019	As at October 31 2018
Effect of a 1% increase in interest rates		
Increase in net interest income before taxes over the next 12 months	\$ 3,817	\$ 13,548
Decrease in the economic value of common shareholders' equity (net of income taxes)	\$ (51,298)	\$ (37,671)

ADDITIONAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION - QUARTERLY RESULTS

In thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share and percentage amounts (Unaudited)	April 30 2019	January 31 2019	C	october 31) 2018	July 31 2018	April 30 2018	-	lanuary 31 2018	C	ctober 31 2017	July 31 2017
Net interest income	\$ 164,564	\$ 172,600	\$	173,152	\$ 177,013	\$ 177,112	\$	178,635	\$	176,220	\$ 157,707
Other income	75,317	69,738		82,705	83,651	82,775		88,367		91,748	90,295
Total revenue	239,881	242,338		255,857	260,664	259,887		267,002		267,968	248,002
Amortization of net premium on purchased financial instruments	390	442		495	547	601		653		707	766
Provision for credit losses	9,200	10,500		17,600	4,900	9,500		12,000		11,500	6,400
Non-interest expenses	183,131	184,676		176,437	187,245	175,554		177,545		184,365	168,364
Income before income taxes	47,160	46,720		61,325	67,972	74,232		76,804		71,396	72,472
Income taxes	3,847	6,464		10,524	13,069	15,037		17,057		12,761	17,674
Net income	\$ 43,313	\$ 40,256	\$	50,801	\$ 54,903	\$ 59,195	\$	59,747	\$	58,635	\$ 54,798
Earnings per share											
Basic	\$ 0.95	\$ 0.88	\$	1.13	\$ 1.23	\$ 1.34	\$	1.41	\$	1.42	\$ 1.48
Diluted	\$ 0.95	\$ 0.88	\$	1.13	\$ 1.23	\$ 1.34	\$	1.41	\$	1.42	\$ 1.48

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND CHANGES TO INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

In November 2017, we initiated the first phase of the core banking system implementation. The evaluation of the ensuing changes to the internal control over financial reporting (ICFR) supported that the design is appropriate with respect to financial reporting.

During the second quarter ended April 30, 2019, there have been no changes to ICFR that affected materially, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, ICFR.

The Board of Directors of Laurentian Bank approved this document prior to its release.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our significant accounting policies and estimates are outlined in Notes 2 and 3 of the 2018 Annual Consolidated Financial Statements. The Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) for the second quarter of 2019 have been prepared in accordance with these accounting policies, with the exception of accounting policy changes disclosed in Note 3, related to the adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15.

Some of these accounting policies are deemed critical as they require management to apply judgement in order to make particularly significant estimates that, by their very nature, involve uncertainties. Changes in these estimates could materially affect our consolidated financial statements. Refer to the section "Critical Accounting Policies and Estimations" on pages 62 to 66 of our 2018 Annual Report for additional information. New estimates about impairment of financial assets have been applied since November 1, 2018 following the Bank's adoption of IFRS 9 and are further described in Note 7 to the Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited).

FUTURE ACCOUNTING CHANGES

Except for the adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 as at November 1, 2018, there have been no significant updates to the future accounting changes disclosed in Note 4 of the 2018 Annual Consolidated Financial Statements and in the section "Future Accounting Changes" on pages 66 to 69 of our 2018 Annual Report.



CONDENSED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

As at and for the period ended April 30, 2019

TABLE OF CONTENTS

lidated Balance Sheet	22
lidated Statement of Income	23
lidated Statement of Comprehensive Income	24
lidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity	26
lidated Statement of Cash Flows	28
to the Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)	29
General Information	29
Basis of Presentation	29
Current Accounting Policy Changes	34
Future Accounting Changes	34
Adoption of New Accounting Standards	34
Securities	37
Loans and Allowances for Credit Losses	39
Securitization and Structured Entities	47
Share Capital	48
Share-Based Compensation	49
Post-Employment Benefits	51
Earnings per Share	51
Financial Instruments – Fair Value	52
Interest and Dividend Income from Securities	52
Contingent Liabilities	52
Restructuring Charges	53
	lidated Statement of Income

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET⁽¹⁾

Interest basing deposits with banks 293,290 Securities 6 At amortized cost 2,940,598 At fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 2,765,313 At fair value through ther comprehensive income (FVOCI) 346,390 Available-for-sale n/a Held-for-trading n/a Commercial 2,847,940 Commercial 2,847,940 Commercial 2,847,940 Commercial 2,847,403 Commercial 12,552,435 Commercial 12,552,435 Commercial 12,552,435 Other 34,404 Derivatives 134,464 Personal 78,693 Software and other intangble assets 346,231 Other 34,404 Derivatives 134,464 Personal 134,644 Personal 34,288 Other 34,015,546 Deforatives 346,401 Godwill 34,643 Godwill 34,643 Deforatives	In thousands of Canadian dollars (Unaudited)	Notes	As at April 30 2019	4	As at October 31 2018
Interest baring deposits with banks 293,290 Securities 6 At amortized cost 2,940,598 At far value through profit or loss [FVTPL] 2,745,313 At far value through other comprehensive income [FV0CI] 346,390 Available-for-sale n/a Held-for-trading n/a Chef-trading n/a Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements 2,849,403 Loans 7 and 8 Personal 7 and 8 Personal 12,552,435 Residential mortigage 16,313,107 Commercial 12,562,435 Other 34,404 Derivatives 134,464 Premises and equipment 78,693 Software and other intangible assets 346,3307 Other 34,404 Odowill 34,404 Odowill 34,404 Odowill 34,404 Odowill 34,404 Odowill 34,403 Obervatives 34,643 Personal \$ 20,603,367					
Securities 6 At amonitized cost 2,940,598 At fair value through profit or loss [FVTPL] 2,745,5313 At fair value through profit or loss [FVTPL] 346,390 Available-for-sale n/a Held-for-trading n/a Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements 2,849,403 Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements 2,849,403 Loans 7 and 8 Parisonal 5,072,731 5 Residential moritgage 16,313,107 16 Customers' labilities under acceptances 10,201 16 Allowances for loan losses 102,273 5 Other 34,015,554 34 Derivatives 134,444 4 Contractives 34,288 11 Derivatives 34,288 117,605 Derivatives 34,288 1 Derivatives sand specifies requity 2 44,693,367 5 20 Derivatives 33,387,93 1 5 44,693,367 5 20		\$		\$	116,490
At amortized cost 2,940,598 At far value through profit or loss [FVTPL] 2,765,313 At far value through ther comprehensive income [FV0CI] 346,390 Available-for-sale n/a Held-to-maturity n/a Held-to-rtrading n/a Construction 2,847,903 Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements 2,847,603 Construction 7 and 8 Personal 7 and 8 Personal 133,107 Residential mortgage 16,313,107 Commercial 125,522,425 Customers' liabilities under acceptances 100,2281 Allowances for loan losses 1102,7281 Other 34,011 Derivatives 134,464 Premises and equipment 78,693 Software and other intangible assets 633,512 Other assets 134,644 Personal \$ 20,603,367 Deferred tax assets 434,288 Other assets 346,193,367 Deferred tax assets 432,113 Deferred tax assets <td></td> <td></td> <td>293,290</td> <td></td> <td>374,237</td>			293,290		374,237
At fair value through profit or loss [FVTPL] 2745,213 At fair value through other comprehensive income [FVOCI] 346,390 Available-for-sale n/a 2 Held-for-trading n/a 2 Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements 2.849,403 3 Loans 7 and 8 7 Personal 7 and 8 7 Customercial 12,562,435 11 Customercial 12,562,435 11 Customercial 12,562,435 11 Customercial 112,562,435 34,018,474 Atlowances for loan losses 1102,524 34 Other 34,464 34 Perioatives 78,493 3 Premises and equipment 78,493 3 Software and other intangible assets 34,311 11 Coordial dises 34,112 2 Uber of bax sests 34,212 4 Derivatives 2 4,643,307 \$ Dersonal \$ 2,0603,367 \$ 2,05 Dersonal \$ 2,0603,367 \$ <td></td> <td>б</td> <td>2 0/0 500</td> <td></td> <td>2/2</td>		б	2 0/0 500		2/2
At fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 346,390 Available (-n-stale n/3 Held-to-maturity n/3 Held-to-maturity n/3 Held-to-trading n/3 Excurities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements 2,869,403 Leans 7 Personal 7 and 8 Personal 16,313,107 Commercial 12,562,435 Commercial 12,562,435 Allowances for loan losses (102,728) Other 34,015,564 Derivatives 78,693 Fremises and equipment 78,693 Software and other intangible assets 34,444 Goadwill 117,605 Derivatives 34,445 Personal \$ 42,693,675 Derivatives 34,288 Other assets 34,288 Derivatives 78,693 Personal \$ 20,403,367 Deposits 2 Personal \$ 2,043,367 Personal \$ 3,186,113 Dispitations related to securitites sold short 2,168,833					n/a
Available-for-sale n/a 2 Held-to-rtrading n/a 2 Ecurities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements 2.849,403 3 Loans 7 and 8 7 Personal 7 and 8 7 Commercial 12,562,453 11 Customers' liabilities under acceptances 170,201 34,118,474 Allowances for loan losses 1102,228 11 Allowances for loan losses 1102,524 34 Other 34,416,474 34 Personatives 78,693 34,464 Other 34,464 34,401 Derivatives 134,464 34,401 Derivatives 34,285 33,512 Cother 33,512 11 Derivatives 34,403 5 Codewill 117,405 5 Liabilities and shareholders' equity 20,43,367 5 Deposits 21,079,177 28 Other 21,079,177 28 Obligations related to securities sold s					n/a n/a
Held-to-maturity n/a 2 Held-to-trading n/a 2 Securities purchase dure reverse repurchase agreements 2,869,403 3 Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements 2,869,403 3 Canan 7 and 8 5,072,731 5 Residential mortgage 16,313,107 16 16 Commercial 12,562,435 11 1 Customers' liabilities under acceptances 170,201 1 1 Altowances for loan losses (102,228) 34 34 Other 34,4015,564 34 34 Derivatives 78,693 1 17,065 Gadwill 117,605 34,401 34,444 Premises and equipment 34,288 34,288 34,288 Other assets 34,288 34,288 31 Defrarted tax assets 34,82,963 1 Defrarted tax assets 34,82,963 7 Deposits 21,68,834 7 Personal 31,86,113 <td< td=""><td>5</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>2,710,249</td></td<>	5				2,710,249
Held-for-trading n/a 2 Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements 6,052,301 6 Laans 7 and 8 7 and 8 Personal 5,072,731 5 Residential mortgage 16,313,107 16 Commercial 12,552,435 11 Customers' liabilities under acceptances 170,201 34,118,474 34 Altowances for loan losses 1(102,278) 34,0115,544 34 Other 34,0115,544 34 34 34,464 34 Perivatives 134,464 34 34 34,011 34,01					655,757
6,052,301 6 Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements 2,849,403 3 Cans 7 and 8 5,072,731 5 Personal 16,313,107 16 16 Commercial 12,562,435 11 1 Customers' liabilities under acceptances 170,201 34 118,474 34 Allowances for loan losses 1102,9281 34,4164 34 34 Other 34,015,546 34 34 36,464 34 Persises and equipment 78,693 36,893 36 36,401 36,364 34 Defiratives 78,893 34,464,33,47 5 45	,		-		2,695,138
Securities purchase dunder reverse repurchase agreements 2,849,403 3 Loans 7 and 8 7 Personal 5,072,731 5 Residential mortgage 16,313,107 16 Commercial 12,552,425 111 Customers' liabilities under acceptances 170,201 3 Allowances for loan losses 1102,2781 3 Other 34,118,474 34 Derivatives 134,464 34 Premises and equipment 78,693 3 Software and other intangible assets 384,401 33,512 Deferred tax assets 33,283 3 Other assets 33,2873 4 Liabilities and shareholders' equity 2 2 Defored tax assets 3,384,301 3 Displations related to securities sold short 6,475,830 7 Obligations related to securities sold short 2,168,836 3 Obligations related to securities sold short 3,46,387 1 Obligations related to securities sold short 3,46,393 <	Theta-fol-trading				6,061,144
Loam 7 and 8 Personal 5,072,731 5 Residential mortgage 16,313,107 16 Commercial 12,552,435 11 Customers' liabilities under acceptances 170,201 34,118,474 34 Allowances for loan losses 1102,728 34 34,118,474 34 Allowances for loan losses 1102,728 34 34,118,474 34 Derivatives 134,464 34 34,118,474 34 Derivatives 134,644 34 34,118,474 34 Other 34,011 50 36,033 37 Software and other intangible assets 384,401 50 50 Goodwill 117,605 34,288 133,512 1 Liabilities and shareholders' equity 1,382,963 1 34,328,3512 1 Deposits Fersonal \$ 20,603,367 \$ 20 2 1 Obligations related to securities sold short 2,168,836 3 3 3 Obligations related t	Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements				3,652,498
Personal 5,072,731 5 Residential mortgage 14,313,107 16 Commercial 12,552,435 11 Customers' liabilities under acceptances 170,201 - Allowances for loan losses 1102,728 - Derivatives 134,464 34 Other - 34,015,564 34 Other output the intragible assets 34,461 - - Software and other intagible assets 344,401 - - Software and other intagible assets 344,288 - - Other output the intagible assets 633,512 - - Liabilities and shareholders' equity - - - - Deposits - - - - - - Personal \$ 20,603,367 5 20 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - </td <td></td> <td>7 and 8</td> <td>2,047,400</td> <td></td> <td>0,002,470</td>		7 and 8	2,047,400		0,002,470
Residential mortgage 16,313,107 16 Customercial 12,562,435 11 Customers' liabilities under acceptances 34,118,474 34 Allowances for loan losses 1102,2281 34,015,546 34 Other 34,015,546 34 34 Derivatives 78,673 364,401 56 Software and other intangible assets 384,401 56 34,418,474 34 Other 78,673 384,401 56 56 35,512 56 34,4288 56 36,401 56 56,33,512 56 34,463,3377 \$ 44,673,367 \$ 44,673,367 \$ 44,673,367 \$ 44,673,367 \$ 20,603,367 \$ 20			5.072.731		5,372,468
Commercial 12,562,435 11, Customers' liabilities under acceptances 170,201 34,118,474 34 Allowances for loan losses (102,728) 34,015,546 34 Other 34,015,546 34 34 Derivatives 78,673 364,401 5646 Godwill 117,605 344,288 364,401 Godwill 34,288 344,288 344,288 Other assets 33,512 1,382,963 1 Deferred tax assets 44,693,367 \$ 42,533,512 1 Under assets 6,33,512 1 34,464 Deposits 1,382,963 1 1 Deposits 20,603,367 \$ 20,003,367 \$ 20,003,367 \$ 20 Dilgitions related to securities sold short 21,68,836 3 7 Other 21,68,836 3 3 0 3 3 Obligations related to securities sold short 21,68,836 3 3 3 3 3 3 Derivat					16,986,338
Customers' liabilities under acceptances 170,201 Allowances for loan losses 34,118,474 34 Allowances for loan losses 34,015,546 34 Other 34,015,546 34 Derivatives 134,464 Premises and equipment 78,673 Software and other intangible assets 384,401 Goodwill Ederivatives Deferred tax assets 34,288 34,288 0ther assets 633,512 Other assets 633,512 1,382,963 1 Deforatives hands and other 5 20,603,367 \$ 20 Personal \$ 20,603,367 \$ 20 Deligations related to securities sold short 6,475,830 7 7 Other 21,68,836 3 3 3 3 Deformed tax liabilities 3,186,113 2 2 1 2 Other 21,48,836 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3					11,839,106
Allowances for loan losses 34,118,474 34 Allowances for loan losses (102,928) Other 34,015,554 34 Derivatives 78,693 34,444 Premises and equipment 78,693 384,401 Godwill 117,405 34,288 Other assets 33,512 34,288 Other assets 633,512 1					196,776
34,015,546 34 Other 134,464 Premises and equipment 78,693 Software and other intangible assets 384,401 Goodwill 117,605 Deferred tax assets 34,288 Other assets 633,512 Uther assets 633,512 Liabilities and shareholders' equity 1,382,963 Deposits 20,403,367 \$ 20 Personal \$ 20,403,367 \$ 20 Business, banks and other 6,475,830 7 Obligations related to securities sold short 21,168,836 3 Obligations related to securities sold under repurchase agreements 3,186,113 2 Acceptances 170,201 144,830 Deferred tax liabilities 1,149,187 1 Other 34,873 7 Derivatives 144,830 144,830 Deferred tax liabilities 3,187 1 Other liabilities 1,149,187 1 Other liabilities 34,08,330 3 Derivatives 34,8930					34,394,688
Other 134,464 Derivatives 78,693 Software and other intangible assets 384,401 Goodwill 117,605 Deferred tax assets 382,288 Other assets 633,512	Allowances for loan losses		(102,928)		(93,026)
Derivatives 134,464 Premises and equipment 78,693 Software and other intangible assets 384,401 Goodwill 117,605 Deferred tax assets 34,288 Other assets 633,512 Liabilities and shareholders' equity Deposits Personal Business, banks and other Obligations related to securities sold short Obligations related to securities sold short Obligations related to securities sold under repurchase agreements Alte 57,830 Other Obligations related to securities sold under repurchase agreements Alte 8,836 Derivatives Deforted tax liabilities Other Other Other Obligations related to securities sold short Obligations related to securities sold short Obligations related to securities sold short Obligations related to securities sold ander Othe					34,301,662
Premises and equipment 78,693 Software and other intangible assets 384,401 Goodwill 117,605 Deferred tax assets 342,288 Other assets 633,512 1,382,963 1,382,963 1,382,963 1,382,963 Liabilities and shareholders' equity Deposits 27,079,197 Other Obligations related to securities sold short 2,168,836 3 Obligations related to securities sold short 2,168,836 3 Obligations related to securities sold under repurchase agreements 3,186,113 2 Acceptances 170,201 2 Derivatives 35,167 1 Other 35,167 1 Cother 35,463 7 Derivatives 3,186,113 2 Derivatives 35,167 1 Other 36,453 7 Deterred tax liabilities 1,149,187 1	Other				
Software and other intangible assets 384,401 Godwill 117,605 Deferred tax assets 34,288 Other assets 633,512 Image: Control tax assets 1,382,963 Image: Control tax assets 1,382,963 Image: Control tax assets 1,382,963 Image: Control tax assets 44,693,367 Image: Control tax assets 20,603,367 Personal \$ Business, banks and other 6,475,830 Obligations related to securities sold short 27,079,197 Obligations related to securities sold under repurchase agreements 3,186,113 Obligations related to securities sold under repurchase agreements 3,186,113 Derivatives 112,187 Deferred tax liabilities 35,167 Other liabilities 34,283 Deterted to securitization activities 8 Shareholders' equity 34,283 Preferred shares 9 Shareholders' equity 9 Preferred shares 9 Common shares 9 Shareholders' equity	Derivatives		134,464		94,285
Goodwill 117,605 Deferred tax assets 34,288 Other assets 633,512 Liabilities and shareholders' equity Deposits Personal \$ 20,603,367 \$ 20 Business, banks and other 27,079,197 Other Obligations related to securities sold short 0.168,836 Other Other Other Other Obligations related to securities sold short 0.168,836 0.114,9187 Other Other Other Other 0.114,9187 Derivatives 170,201 Derivatives 0.468,836 0.1149,187 Other liabilities 0.1149,187 Other liabilities 0.1149,187	Premises and equipment		78,693		80,961
Deferred tax assets 34,288 Other assets 633,512 1,382,963 1 \$ 44,693,367 \$ 44,693,367 \$ 5 Liabilities and shareholders' equity 20,603,367 \$ 20,603,367 \$ 20,603,367 \$ Deposits 6,475,830 7 Personal 6,475,830 7 Other 6,475,830 7 Obligations related to securities sold short 2,168,836 3 Obligations related to securities sold under repurchase agreements 3,186,113 2 Acceptances 170,201 1 1 Deferred tax liabilities 35,167 0 0 1,149,187 1 Other debt 34,8434 7 1	Software and other intangible assets		384,401		367,345
Other assets 633,512 1,382,963 1 \$ 44,693,367 \$ 45 Liabilities and shareholders' equity 5 Personal \$ 20,603,367 \$ 20 Business, banks and other 6,475,830 7 Other 27,079,197 28 Obligations related to securities sold short 2,168,836 3 Obligations related to securities sold under repurchase agreements 3,186,113 2 Acceptances 170,201 1 Derivatives 144,830 25,167 Other liabilities 35,167 0 Other liabilities 3,186,113 2 Acceptances 170,201 1 Derivatives 3,167 0 Other liabilities 3,167 0 Other liabilities 8 7,859,483 7 Subordinated debt 348,930 348,930 348,930 Shareholders' equity 9 2,44,038 7 Preferred shares 9 1,125,809 1 <td< td=""><td>Goodwill</td><td></td><td>117,605</td><td></td><td>116,617</td></td<>	Goodwill		117,605		116,617
1,382,9631\$44,693,367\$45Liabilities and shareholders' equityDeposits20,603,367\$20Business, banks and other <t< td=""><td>Deferred tax assets</td><td></td><td>34,288</td><td></td><td>25,437</td></t<>	Deferred tax assets		34,288		25,437
\$ 44,693,367 \$ 45 Liabilities and shareholders' equity Deposits Personal \$ 20,603,367 \$ 20 Business, banks and other 6,475,830 7 Other 27,079,197 28 Obligations related to securities sold short 2,168,836 3 Obligations related to securities sold under repurchase agreements 3,186,113 2 Acceptances 170,201 Derivatives 144,830 Deferred tax liabilities 35,167 Other liabilities 1,149,187 1 Exbordinated debt 348,930 Shareholders' equity 9 Preferred shares 9 Questions shares 9 Shareholders' equity 1,152,058 1, Accupulated other comprehensive income 28,343 Share-based compensation reserve 10 1,175	Other assets		633,512		704,007
Liabilities and shareholders' equity Deposits Personal Personal Starshand other Personal Starshand other Personal Shareholders' equity Debi related to securities sold short Share-based compensation reserve Personal Pers					1,388,652
Deposits \$ 20,603,367 \$ 30,6113 20,603 \$ 20,603,613 20,603 \$ 20,603,613 20,603,613 20,603 \$ 7 31,6113 20,513 20,653,617 10,63,613 20,633 7 31,6113 20,513 31,6113 20,513 20,5143 7 34,8730 <		\$	44,693,367	\$	45,894,683
Personal \$ 20,603,367 \$ 20 Business, banks and other 6,475,830 7 Other 27,079,197 28 Obligations related to securities sold short 2,168,836 3 Obligations related to securities sold under repurchase agreements 3,186,113 2 Acceptances 170,201 1 Derivatives 144,830 144,830 Deferred tax liabilities 35,167 1 Other liabilities 1,149,187 1 Detored tax liabilities 38,930 1 Subordinated debt 348,930 3 Shareholders' equity 9 244,038 Preferred shares 9 1,125,809 Common shares 9 1,125,809 1 Accumulated other comprehensive income 28,343 1 Share-based compensation reserve 10 1,175	Liabilities and shareholders' equity				
Business, banks and other 6,475,830 7 Other 27,079,197 28 Obligations related to securities sold short 2,168,836 3 Obligations related to securities sold under repurchase agreements 3,186,113 2 Acceptances 170,201 1 Derivatives 144,830 3 Deferred tax liabilities 35,167 1 Other liabilities 1,149,187 1 Debt related to securitization activities 8 7,859,483 7 Subordinated debt 348,930 348,930 348,930 Shareholders' equity 9 2,44,038 7 Preferred shares 9 2,44,038 7 Common shares 9 1,125,809 1 Retained earnings 1,152,058 1 1 Accumulated other comprehensive income 28,343 1 Share-based compensation reserve 10 1,175	Deposits				
27,079,19728Other2,168,8363Obligations related to securities sold under repurchase agreements3,186,1132Acceptances170,201Derivatives144,830Deferred tax liabilities35,167Other liabilities1,149,1871Obligation activities87,859,483Subordinated debt348,930348,930Shareholders' equity92,44,038Preferred shares91,125,8091Accumulated other comprehensive income28,3431Share-based compensation reserve101,175	Personal	\$	20,603,367	\$	20,995,453
Other2,168,8363Obligations related to securities sold under repurchase agreements3,186,1132Acceptances170,201Derivatives144,830Deferred tax liabilities35,167Other liabilities1,149,1871Other liabilities6,854,3347Debt related to securitization activities87,859,4837Subordinated debt348,930348,9303Shareholders' equity92,44,0381Preferred shares91,125,8091Common shares91,125,8091Accumulated other comprehensive income28,3431Share-based compensation reserve101,175	Business, banks and other		6,475,830		7,011,119
Obligations related to securities sold short2,168,8363Obligations related to securities sold under repurchase agreements3,186,1132Acceptances170,201Derivatives144,830Deferred tax liabilities35,167Other liabilities1,149,1871,Obligation activities87,859,4837,Subordinated debt348,930348,930348,930Shareholders' equity9244,0381,152,058Retained earnings1,152,0581,152,0581,Accumulated other comprehensive income28,343101,175			27,079,197		28,006,572
Obligations related to securities sold under repurchase agreements3,186,1132Acceptances170,201Derivatives144,830Deferred tax liabilities35,167Other liabilities1,149,187Debt related to securitization activities87,859,4837,Subordinated debt348,930Shareholders' equity9Preferred shares92. Common shares991,125,8091, 152,0581,Accumulated other comprehensive income28,343Share-based compensation reserve101,17510					
Acceptances170,201Derivatives144,830Deferred tax liabilities35,167Other liabilities1,149,1870ther liabilities1,149,1870ther liabilities6,854,33477Debt related to securitization activities87,859,4837Subordinated debt348,930Shareholders' equity9Preferred shares920mmon shares991,125,8091,152,0581Accumulated other comprehensive income28,343Share-based compensation reserve101,1751	•				3,008,666
Derivatives 144,830 Deferred tax liabilities 35,167 Other liabilities 1,149,187 1, Other liabilities 6,854,334 7 Debt related to securitization activities 8 7,859,483 7 Subordinated debt 348,930 348,930 348,930 Shareholders' equity 9 244,038 7 Preferred shares 9 1,125,809 1 Retained earnings 1,152,058 1 1 Accumulated other comprehensive income 28,343 1 Share-based compensation reserve 10 1,175					2,515,823
Deferred tax liabilities 35,167 Other liabilities 1,149,187 1 Common shares 8 7,859,483 7 Subordinated debt 348,930 348,930 348,930 Shareholders' equity 9 244,038 7 Retained earnings 9 1,125,809 1 Accumulated other comprehensive income 28,343 1 Share-based compensation reserve 10 1,175					196,776
Other liabilities1,149,1871,Other liabilities1,149,1871,Debt related to securitization activities87,859,4837,Subordinated debt348,930348,9307,Shareholders' equity9244,0387,Preferred shares91,125,8091,Common shares91,125,8091,Retained earnings1,152,0581,1,Accumulated other comprehensive income28,343101,175					285,492
6,854,3347Debt related to securitization activities87,859,4837Subordinated debt348,930Shareholders' equity9244,038Preferred shares91,125,8091Retained earnings1,152,0581Accumulated other comprehensive income28,343Share-based compensation reserve101,175					19,081
Debt related to securitization activities87,859,4837,Subordinated debt348,930Shareholders' equityPreferred shares9244,038Common shares91,125,8091,Retained earnings1,152,0581,Accumulated other comprehensive income28,3431,Share-based compensation reserve101,175	Uther liabilities				1,229,556
Subordinated debt348,930Shareholders' equity9244,038Preferred shares91,125,8091Common shares91,125,8091Retained earnings1,152,05811Accumulated other comprehensive income28,3431Share-based compensation reserve101,175					7,255,394
Shareholders' equity9244,038Preferred shares91,125,8091Common shares91,125,8091Retained earnings1,152,0581Accumulated other comprehensive income28,343Share-based compensation reserve101,175		8			7,787,753
Preferred shares9244,038Common shares91,125,8091,Retained earnings1,152,0581,Accumulated other comprehensive income28,343Share-based compensation reserve101,175			348,930		348,762
Common shares91,125,8091Retained earnings1,152,0581Accumulated other comprehensive income28,343Share-based compensation reserve101,175		0	2// 000		0// 000
Retained earnings1,152,0581,Accumulated other comprehensive income28,343Share-based compensation reserve101,175					244,038
Accumulated other comprehensive income28,343Share-based compensation reserve101,175		3			1,115,416
Share-based compensation reserve 10 1,175					1,152,470
		10			(15,990)
Z, 551,423 Z	Share-based compensation reserve	IU			268
\$ 44,693,367 \$ 45		*			2,496,202 45,894,683

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the condensed interim consolidated financial statements (unaudited).

[1] The Consolidated Balance Sheet as at April 30, 2019 reflects the adoption of new accounting standards as at November 1, 2018. Refer to Notes 2 and 5 for further information. The comparative information has not been restated.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME⁽¹⁾

			For th	he th	ree months e	ended			ended		
In thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts (Unaudited)	Notes		April 30 2019		January 31 2019		April 30 2018		April 30 2019		April 30 2018
Interest income											
Loans		\$	352,775	\$	361,538	\$	344,870	\$	714,313	\$	685,499
Securities	14		19,877		19,480		13,342		39,357		26,963
Deposits with other banks			2,216		2,121		675		4,337		1,226
Other, including derivatives			6,910		10,436		6,444		17,346		12,150
			381,778		393,575		365,331		775,353		725,838
Interest expense					450 (0)		100.001				000 004
Deposits			160,339		158,496		139,221		318,835		273,281
Debt related to securitization activities			41,514		42,409		41,038		83,923		81,564
Subordinated debt			3,709		3,835		3,709		7,544		7,544
Other, including derivatives			11,652		16,235		4,251		27,887		7,702
			217,214		220,975		188,219		438,189		370,091
Net interest income			164,564		172,600		177,112		337,164		355,747
Other income			22 505		22 710		25 0/7		(7 010		7/0//
Fees and commissions on loans and deposits			33,595		33,718		35,967		67,313		74,044
Fees and commissions - brokerage operations			11,622		10,021		12,104		21,643		25,724
Commissions from sales of mutual funds			10,726		10,711		11,843		21,437		24,072
Fees on investment accounts			4,657		4,603		5,139		9,260		10,869
Income from treasury and financial market operations			2,408		1,621		1,486		4,029		7,108
Insurance income, net			3,702		3,635		4,217		7,337		7,764
Securities gains - brokerage operations	-		5,417		1,688		2,262		7,105		7,228
Other	7		3,190		3,741		9,757		6,931		14,333
Tatal anna ann			75,317		69,738		82,775		145,055		171,142
Total revenue Amortization of net premium on purchased financial					242,338		259,887		482,219		526,889
instruments			390		442		601		832		1,254
Provision for credit losses	7		9,200		10,500		9,500		19,700		21,500
Non-interest expenses	10 11				~~ ~~~		04 550				105 010
Salaries and employee benefits	10, 11		90,474		92,089		91,550		182,563		185,212
Premises and technology			50,583		49,046		47,952		99,629		95,258
Other			38,634		41,535		32,543		80,169		67,603
Restructuring charges	16		3,440		2,006		1,751		5,446		2,669
Costs related to business combinations and other							1,758				2,357
			183,131		184,676		175,554		367,807		353,099
Income before income taxes			47,160		46,720		74,232		93,880		151,036
Income taxes		*	3,847	<i>c</i>	6,464	¢	15,037	*	10,311	¢.	32,094
Net income		\$	43,313	\$	40,256	\$	59,195	\$	83,569	\$	118,942
Preferred share dividends, including applicable taxes			3,256		3,257		3,253		6,513		7,532
Net income available to common shareholders		\$	40,057	\$	36,999	\$	55,942	\$	77,056	\$	111,410
Average number of common shares outstanding (in thous	ands)										
Basic			42,235		42,114		41,762		42,173		40,591
Diluted			42,274		42,133		41,762		42,202		40,591
Earnings per share	12										
Basic		\$	0.95	\$	0.88	\$	1.34	\$	1.83	\$	2.74
Diluted		\$	0.95	\$	0.88	\$	1.34	\$	1.83	\$	2.74
Dividends declared per share											
Common share		\$	0.65	\$	0.65	\$	0.63	\$	1.30	\$	1.26
Preferred share - Series 11		\$	_	\$	_	\$	_	\$	_	\$	0.25
Preferred share - Series 13		\$	0.27	\$	0.27	\$	0.27	\$	0.54	\$	0.54
Preferred share - Series 15		\$	0.37	\$	0.37	\$	0.37	\$	0.73	\$	0.73

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the condensed interim consolidated financial statements (unaudited).

[1] The Consolidated Statement of Income for the period ended April 30, 2019 reflects the adoption of new accounting standards as at November 1, 2018. Refer to Notes 2 and 5 for further information. The comparative information has not been restated.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME⁽¹⁾

	For t	he th	nree months ender	b	For the six months ended					
In thousands of Canadian dollars (Unaudited)	 April 30 2019		January 31 2019	April 30 2018		April 30 2019	April 30 2018			
Net income	\$ 43,313	\$	40,256 \$	59,195	\$	83,569 \$	118,942			
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of income taxes										
Items that may subsequently be reclassified to the statement of income										
Net change in debt securities at FVOCI										
Unrealized net gains (losses) on debt securities at FVOCI	1,129		1,036	n/a		2,165	n/a			
Reclassification of net (gains) losses on debt securities at FV0CI to net income	(32)		(69)	n/a		(101)	n/a			
	1,097		967	n/a		2,064	n/a			
Net change in available-for-sale securities										
Unrealized net gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities	n/a		n/a	(4,582)		n/a	(3,597)			
Reclassification of net (gains) losses on available-for-sale securities to net income	n/a		n/a	(53)		n/a	(1,955)			
	n/a		n/a	(4,635)		n/a	(5,552)			
Net change in value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges	11,347		23,984	3,974		35,331	988			
Net foreign currency translation adjustments										
Net unrealized foreign currency translations gains (losses) on investments in foreign operations	7,847		(963)	14,802		6,884	(134)			
Unrealized net gains (losses) on hedges of investments in foreign operations	(4,444)		(1,910)	(7,529)		(6,354)	130			
	3,403		(2,873)	7,273		530	(4)			
	15,847		22,078	6,612		37,925	(4,568)			
Items that may not subsequently be reclassified to the statement of income										
Remeasurement gains (losses) on employee benefit plans	5,156		(2,031)	246		3,125	5,392			
Net gains (losses) on equity securities designated at FVOCI	1,552		(13,283)	n/a		(11,731)	n/a			
	6,708		(15,314)	246		(8,606)	5,392			
Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of income taxes	22,555		6,764	6,858		29,319	824			
Comprehensive income	\$ 65,868	\$	47,020 \$	66,053	\$	112,888 \$	119,766			

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the condensed interim consolidated financial statements (unaudited).

 The Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the period ended April 30, 2019 reflects the adoption of new accounting standards as at November 1, 2018. Refer to Notes 2 and 5 for further information. The comparative information has not been restated.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONT'D)^[1]

INCOME TAXES — OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The following table shows income tax expense (recovery) for each component of other comprehensive income.

	For t	he th	nree months e	ended		For the six mo	onths	ended
In thousands of Canadian dollars (Unaudited)	 April 30 2019		January 31 2019		April 30 2018	 April 30 2019		April 30 2018
Net change in debt securities at FVOCI								
Unrealized net gains (losses) on debt securities at FVOCI	\$ 170	\$	578		n/a	\$ 748		n/a
Reclassification of net (gains) losses on debt securities at FVOCI to net income	_		_		n/a	_		n/a
	170		578		n/a	748		n/a
Net change in available-for-sale securities								
Unrealized net gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities	n/a		n/a	\$	(1,519)	n/a	\$	(1,105)
Reclassification of net (gains) losses on available-for-sale securities to net income	n/a		n/a		(78)	n/a		(665)
	n/a		n/a		(1,597)	n/a		(1,770)
Net change in value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges	4,103		8,673		1,440	12,776		358
Net foreign currency translation adjustments								
Unrealized net gains (losses) on hedges of investments in foreign operations	156		_		(1,163)	156		20
Remeasurement gains (losses) on employee benefit plans	1,868		(736)		89	1,132		1,962
Net gains (losses) on equity securities designated at FVOCI	563	\$	(4,818)		n/a	(4,255)		n/a
	\$ 6,860	\$	3,697	\$	(1,231)	\$ 10,557	\$	570

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the condensed interim consolidated financial statements (unaudited).

[1] The Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the period ended April 30, 2019 reflects the adoption of adoption of new accounting standards as at November 1, 2018. Refer to Notes 2 and 5 for further information. The comparative information has not been restated.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY⁽¹⁾

For the six months ended April 30 Share-Accumulated other comprehensive income based compen-Preferred Common Debt Available-Cash Translation Total sation shares Retained securities for-sale flow of foreign reserve shareholders' shares In thousands of Canadian dollars (Unaudited) (Note 9) (Note 9) earnings at FVOCI securities hedges operations Total (Note 10) equity Balance as at October 31, 2018 \$ 244,038 \$1,115,416 \$1,152,470 \$ - \$ (8,029) \$ (12,244) \$ 4,283 \$ (15.990) \$ 268 \$ 2,496,202 Impact of adoption of new accounting standards (Notes 2 and 5) (14,087)(1, 621)8,029 6,408 (7, 679)Balance as at November 1, 2018 244,038 1,115,416 1,138,383 (1, 621)_ (12, 244)4,283 (9,582) 268 2,488,523 83,569 Net income 83,569 Other comprehensive income (net of income taxes) Unrealized net gains (losses) on debt securities at FVOCI 2,165 2,165 2,165 Reclassification of net (gains) losses on debt securities at FVOCI (101)(101) (101) to net income Net change in value of derivatives designated as cash flow 35,331 35,331 35,331 hedges Net unrealized foreign currency translation gains (losses) on investments in foreign operations 6.884 6.884 6.884 Unrealized net gains (losses) on hedges of investments in (6.354)(6.354) (6,354) foreign operations 3.125 3,125 Remeasurement of gains (losses) on employee benefit plans Net gains (losses) on equity securities designated at FVOCI (11.731)(11.731)74,963 2,064 37,925 112,888 35,331 530 Comprehensive income n/a Issuance of share capital 10.393 10,393 Share-based compensation 907 907 Dividends (6.513) (6.513) Preferred shares, including applicable taxes (54.775)(54,775) Common shares \$ 244.038 \$1.125.809 \$1.152.058 \$ 443 23.087 \$ 4.813 \$ 28.343 \$ 1.175 \$ 2.551.423 Balance as at April 30, 2019 n/a \$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the condensed interim consolidated financial statements (unaudited).

[1] The Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity for the period ended April 30, 2019 reflects the adoption of new accounting standards as at November 1, 2018. Refer to Notes 2 and 5 for further information. The comparative information has not been restated.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (CONT'D)

						For the s	six months er	nded April 30
				Accumulat	ted other cor	me		
In thousands of Canadian dollars (Unaudited)	Preferred shares (Note 9)	Common shares (Note 9)	Retained earnings	Available- for-sale securities	Cash flow hedges	Translation of foreign operations	Total	Total shareholders' equity
Balance as at October 31, 2017	\$ 341,600 \$	953,536	\$ 1,035,770	\$ 4,849 \$	(7,293)	\$ 1,948 \$	[496] \$	2,330,410
Net income			118,942					118,942
Other comprehensive income (loss), (net of income taxes)								
Unrealized net gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities				(3,597)			(3,597)	(3,597)
Reclassification of net (gains) losses on available-for-sale securities to net income				(1,955)			(1,955)	(1,955)
Net change in value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges					988		988	988
Net unrealized foreign currency translation gains (losses) on investments in foreign operations						(134)	(134)	(134)
Unrealized net gains (losses) on hedges of investments in foreign operations						130	130	130
Remeasurement of gains (losses) on employee benefit plans			5,392					5,392
Comprehensive income			124,334	(5,552)	988	(4)	(4,568)	119,766
Issuance of share capital	 	151,758						151,758
Repurchase of share capital	(97,562)		(2,438)					(100,000)
Dividends								
Preferred shares, including applicable taxes			(7,532)					(7,532)
Common shares			(50,835)					(50,835)
Balance as at April 30, 2018	\$ 244,038 \$	1,105,294	\$ 1,099,299	\$ [703] \$	(6,305)	\$ 1,944 \$	(5,064) \$	2,443,567

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the condensed interim consolidated financial statements (unaudited).

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS⁽¹⁾

		For the three months ended For the six m								ionths ended		
In thousands of Canadian dollars (Unaudited)	Notes		April 30 2019		January 31 2019		April 30 2018		April 30 2019		April 30 2018	
Cash flows relating to operating activities	notes		2017		2017		2010		2017		2010	
Net income		\$	43,313	\$	40,256	\$	59,195	\$	83,569	\$	118.942	
Adjustments to determine net cash flows relating to operating activities:		Ф	43,313	φ	40,200	φ	J7,17J	Ψ	03,307	φ	110,742	
Provision for credit losses	7		9,200		10,500		9,500		19,700		21,500	
Net gains on disposal of available-for-sale securities	6		n/a		n/a		(130)		n/a		(2,620)	
Net gain on sale of commercial loan portfolios							(5,330)				(5,330)	
Deferred income taxes			(2,572)		(1,395)		(595)		(3,967)		(1,641)	
Depreciation of premises and equipment			1,770		1,763		1,667		3,533		3,335	
Amortization of software and other intangible assets			10,264		9,473		8,825		19,737		17,210	
Change in operating assets and liabilities:												
Loans			(22,029)		185,369		23,369		163,340		(45,003)	
Acceptances			(3,209)		(23,366)		4,210		(26,575)		(9,995)	
Securities at FVPL			(207,133)		163,306		(277,462)		(43,827)		(195,829)	
Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements			495,948		307,147		(327,633)		803,095	(1,122,878)	
Accrued interest receivable			(23,415)		(1,028)		(5,762)		(24,443)		(886)	
Derivative assets			(9,637)		(30,542)		38,056		(40,179)		2,053	
Deposits		(1	,137,345)		209,970		49,540		(927,375)		554,299	
Obligations related to securities sold short			(928,769)		88,939		(523,033)		(839,830)		260,270	
Obligations related to securities sold under repurchase agreements			975,274		(304,984)		350,234		670,290		(212,578)	
Accrued interest payable			20,757		(27,579)		23,706		(6,822)		14,362	
Derivative liabilities Debt related to securitization activities			(22,091)		(118,571)		(19,544)		(140,662)		16,462	
			520,203		(448,473)		207,908		71,730		219,946	
Other, net			78,324 (201,147)		(12,819) 47,966		(222)		65,505 (153,181)		(126,721)	
Cash flows relating to financing activities			[201,147]		47,700		(363,301)		(155,161)		(495,102)	
Repurchase of preferred shares	9		_		_		_		_		(100,000)	
Net proceeds from issuance of common shares	9		(3)		(4)		(89)		(7)		139,134	
Dividends			(25,584)		(26,837)		(20,972)		(52,421)		(42,087)	
			(25,587)		(26,841)		(21,061)		(52,428)		(2,953)	
Cash flows relating to investing activities												
Change in securities at amortized cost												
Acquisitions			(688,738)		(958,876)		n/a	ſ	1,647,614)		n/a	
Proceeds on sale and at maturity			704,086		1,005,584		n/a		1,709,670		n/a	
Change in securities at FVOCI												
Acquisitions			(90,682)		(238,828)		n/a		(329,510)		n/a	
Proceeds on sale and at maturity			108,217		198,853		n/a		307,070		n/a	
Change in available-for-sale securities												
Acquisitions			n/a		n/a		1,128,788)		n/a		2,407,902)	
Proceeds on sale and at maturity			n/a		n/a		1,172,093		n/a		2,612,703	
Change in held-to-maturity securities			,		,		(4 50 504)		,		(101.111)	
Acquisitions			n/a		n/a		(170,781)		n/a		(401,664)	
Proceeds at maturity	7		n/a		n/a		246,581		n/a		431,344	
Proceeds on sale of commercial loan portfolios	/		_		105,366		380,106		105,366		380,106	
Additions to premises and equipment and software and other intangible assets			(19,756)		(17,995)		(42,053)		(37,751)		(70,866)	
Change in interest bearing deposits with banks			204,172		(123,225)		(45,930)		80,947		(16,922)	
			217,299		(29,121)		411,228		188,178		526,799	
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and non-interest-bearing			1,160		(355)		3,552		805		1,618	
deposits with other banks Net change in cash and non-interest bearing deposits with banks			(8,275)		(8,351)		10,218		(16,626)		30,362	
Cash and non-interest bearing deposits with banks at beginning of period			108,139		116,490		132,122		116,490		111,978	
Cash and non-interest bearing deposits with banks at beginning of period		\$	99,864	\$	108,139	\$	142,340	\$	99,864	\$	142,340	
		ŕ	,	Ŧ	1	Ŧ	1	Ŧ	,	ŕ	,2.0	
Supplemental disclosure about cash flows relating to operating activities:		¢	106 / / 2	¢	2/0 020	¢	145 / 75	¢	/27 271	¢	355 202	
Interest paid during the period Interest received during the period		\$ \$	196,443 356,987	\$ \$	240,928 383,734	\$ \$	165,475 355,001	\$ \$	437,371 740,721	\$ \$	355,393 723,679	
Dividends received during the period		⊅ \$	356,987 3,897	э \$	383,734 3,447	⊅ \$	2,675	⊅ \$	7,344	⊅ \$	723,679 5,121	
Income taxes paid during the period		₽ \$	3,877 19,722	₽ \$	19,179	₽ \$	25,482	.₽ \$	7,344 38,901	.₽ \$	59,773	
meenne taxes paid during the period		Ą	17,722	φ	17,177	φ	ZJ,40Z	ъ	30,701	φ	57,773	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the condensed interim consolidated financial statements (unaudited).

[1] The Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the six months ended April 30, 2019 reflects the adoption of new accounting standards as at November 1, 2018. Refer to Notes 2 and 5 for further information. The comparative information has not been restated.

NOTES TO THE CONDENSED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

All tabular amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise indicated (Unaudited)

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Laurentian Bank of Canada (the Bank) provides financial services to its retail, business and institutional customers. The Bank operates primarily across Canada and in the United States.

The Bank is the ultimate parent of the group. The Bank is a chartered bank under Schedule 1 of the Bank Act (Canada) and has its head office in Montreal, Canada. The Bank's common shares (stock symbol: LB) are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange.

The condensed interim consolidated financial statements (unaudited) for the period ended April 30, 2019 were approved for issuance by the Board of Directors on May 29, 2019.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

These condensed interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), as well as in accordance with IAS 34, *Interim Financial Reporting*. These consolidated financial statements also comply with the Bank Act, which states that, except as otherwise specified by the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions Canada (OSFI), financial statements are to be prepared in accordance with IFRS.

These consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended October 31, 2018 prepared in accordance with IFRS. The accounting policies described in Note 3 to the audited annual consolidated financial statements have been applied consistently to all periods presented within these financial statements, except for the changes described in Note 3 to these consolidated financial statements, which have been applied since November 1, 2018 following the Bank's adoption of IFRS 9, *Financial Instruments* (IFRS 9) and IFRS 15, *Revenue from Contracts with Customers* (IFRS 15). Note 5 to these consolidated financial statements shows the impacts of the adoption of new accounting standards as at November 1, 2018. As permitted by IFRS 9, the Bank did not restate comparative amounts for prior periods. The adoption of IFRS 15 had no significant impact on the Bank's Consolidated Financial Statements as at November 1, 2018.

Use of estimates and judgment

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make complex judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, net income and other related disclosures, as further described in Note 2 to the audited annual consolidated financial statements. New estimates about impairment of financial assets have been applied since November 1, 2018 following the Bank's adoption of IFRS 9 and are further described in Note 7 to these financial statements. Management has established controls and procedures to ensure these estimates are controlled, reviewed and consistently applied over time. Management believes that the estimates of the value of the Bank's assets and liabilities are appropriate.

3. CURRENT ACCOUNTING POLICY CHANGES

The accounting policies hereafter have been applied as at November 1, 2018 following the adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15, further described in Note 5. The Bank elected not to apply the IFRS 9 hedge accounting requirements and instead continues to apply the IAS 39, *Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement* requirements.

3.1 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Classification and measurement of financial assets

At initial recognition, all financial assets are recorded at fair value on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. After initial recognition, financial assets must be measured as: 1) at amortized cost 2) at FVOCI, or 3) at FVTPL.

The Bank determines the classification of debt instruments based on the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets and on the business model it uses to manage these financial assets, as described below. Equity instruments are required to be measured at FVTPL, except where the Bank has elected at initial recognition to irrevocably designate an equity investment, held for purposes other than trading, at FVOCI. Derivatives are required to be measured at FVTPL.

Contractual cash flow characteristics

In order to classify debt instruments, the Bank must determine whether the contractual cash flows associated with the debt instrument are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding. The principal is generally the fair value of the debt instrument at initial recognition. The interest consists of consideration for the time value of money, for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time, and for other basic lending risks and costs as well as of a profit margin. If the Bank determines that the contractual cash flows associated with a debt instrument are not solely payments of principal and interest, the debt instrument must be classified as at FVTPL.

Business model assessment

The Bank determines its business models based on the objective under which each portfolio of financial assets is managed. The business model reflects how the Bank manages its financial assets and the extent to which the financial asset cash flows are generated by the collection of the contractual cash flows, the sale of financial assets, or both. The Bank determines the business model using scenarios that are reasonably expected to occur. The business model determination requires the use of judgment and consideration of all the relevant evidence available at the date of determination.

A financial asset portfolio is within a "hold to collect" business model when the Bank's primary objective is to hold these financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows from them and not to sell them. When the Bank's objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and by selling the financial assets, the financial asset portfolio falls within a "hold to collect and sell" business model. In this type of business model, collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets are both integral components to achieving the Bank's objective for this financial asset portfolio. Financial assets are measured at FVTPL if they do not fall within either a "hold to collect" business model or a "hold to collect and sell" business model.

Optional designations

Under the fair value option, debt instruments that fall within a "hold to collect" or "hold to collect and sell" business model may be designated on a voluntary and irrevocable basis as at FVTPL provided that such designation:

- Eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognizing the related gains and losses on different bases; or
- Pertains to an asset or liability that is managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about such items is provided internally on that basis to the Bank's key management personnel; and
- Allows for reliable measurement of the fair value of the financial instruments designated at FVTPL.

As at April 30, 2019 and November 1, 2018, the Bank had not designated any debt instrument as at FVTPL.

In addition, it is permitted to irrevocably designate, at initial recognition, an equity instrument that is neither held for trading nor a contingent consideration recognized in a business combination as at FVOCI.

Securities at amortized cost

Securities at amortized cost include debt securities for which the contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding and that fall within a "hold to collect" business model. Securities at amortized cost are initially recorded at fair value on the settlement date on the consolidated balance sheet, including direct and incremental transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, net of allowances for expected credit losses. Interest income is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Income using the effective interest rate method, including the amortization of transaction costs as well as premium or discounts over the security's expected life.

Securities at FVOCI

Securities at FVOCI include: (i) debt securities for which the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding and that fall within a "hold to collect and sell" business model and (ii) equity securities designated at FVOCI with no subsequent reclassification of gains and losses to net income.

The Bank initially recognizes securities at FVOCI on the consolidated balance sheet at the settlement date, including direct and incremental transaction costs.

For debt securities at FVOCI, unrealized gains and losses are subsequently recognized, net of expected credit losses and income taxes, and provided that they are not hedged by derivative financial instruments in a fair value hedging relationship, in Other comprehensive income. When the securities are sold, realized gains or losses, determined on an average cost basis, are reclassified to Income from treasury and financial market operations in the Consolidated Statement of Income. Interest income is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Income using the effective interest rate method, including the amortization of transaction costs, as well as premium or discounts over the security's expected life.

For equity securities designated at FVOCI, subsequent unrealized gains and losses are presented, net of income taxes, in Other comprehensive income with no subsequent reclassification of realized gains and losses to net income. Dividend income for these instruments is recorded in interest income in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

Securities at FVTPL

Securities at FVTPL include (i) debt securities for which the business model is neither to hold to collect nor hold to collect and sell, (ii) debt securities for which the contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, (iii) debt securities designated at FVTPL under the fair value option, (iv) equity securities held for trading, and (v) equity securities other than those designated at FVOCI.

Securities at FVTPL are initially recorded at fair value on the settlement date on the consolidated balance sheet. Transaction costs and other fees associated with financial instruments at FVTPL are expensed as incurred. Subsequently, these securities are measured at fair value and the realized and unrealized gains and losses are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Income under Income from treasury and financial market operations or Securities gains on brokerage operations. The amortization of premiums and discounts, calculated using the effective interest rate method, as well as interest income and dividend income, are recognized in Interest income in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

Loans at amortized cost

Loans at amortized cost include loans originated or purchased by the Bank that are not classified as measured at FVTPL or designated at FVTPL under the fair value option. These loans are held within a business model whose objective is to collect cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. Loans originated by the Bank are recognized at the settlement date on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Loans are initially measured at fair value plus directly attributable costs and are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Loans are presented net of allowances for credit losses on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Loans at FVOCI

Loans at FVOCI include loans originated or purchased by the Bank that are not classified as measured at FVTPL or designated at FVTPL under the fair value option. These loans are held within a "hold to collect and sell" business model business model whose objective is to collect cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding and to sell them to generate a profit. Loans originated by the Bank are recognized at the settlement date on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Loans are initially measured at fair value plus directly attributable costs. Interest income on loans at FVOCI is recorded using the effective interest rate method in Interest income in the Consolidated Statement of Income. Changes in the fair value of loans classified as at FVOCI are presented, net of income taxes, in Other comprehensive income. When the securities are sold, realized gains or losses, are reclassified to Other Income.

As at April 30, 2019 and November 1, 2018, the Bank had no loans at FVOCI.

Loans at FVTPL

Loans at FVTPL include loans designated at FVTPL under the fair value option and loans for which the contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. These loans are initially recognized at fair value on the Consolidated Balance Sheet excluding any transaction costs which are recorded in Fees and commissions on loans and deposits in the Consolidated Statement of Income. Interest income on loans at FVTPL is recorded in Interest income in the Consolidated Statement of loans classified as at FVTPL and loans designated at FVTPL under the fair value option are recognized in Income from treasury and financial market operations.

As at April 30, 2019 and November 1, 2018, the Bank had no loans at FVTPL.

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

At initial recognition, all financial liabilities are recorded at fair value at the settlement date on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. After initial recognition, financial liabilities must be measured as: 1) at amortized cost or 2) at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortized cost

Financial liabilities at amortized cost include deposits, obligations related to securities sold under repurchase agreements, acceptances, subordinated debt, debt related to securitization activities and other liabilities. Financial liabilities at amortized cost are initially recognized at fair value including any transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortized cost. Interest expense on financial liabilities at amortized cost is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Income, using the effective interest rate method.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are composed of financial instruments held-for-trading including obligations related to securities sold short, derivatives not designated in hedge relationships and financial liabilities designated by the Bank as at FVTPL under the fair value option upon initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are initially recorded at fair value at the settlement date on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Subsequently, these financial instruments are remeasured at fair value and the realized and unrealized gains and losses are immediately recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Income under Income from treasury and financial market or Securities gains - brokerage operations. For financial liabilities designated by the Bank as at FVTPL under the fair value option, changes in the fair value which are attributable to changes in own credit risk are presented in other comprehensive income rather than in the Consolidated Statement of Income, unless it creates a mismatch. Interest expense paid is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Income. Transaction costs and other fees associated with financial instruments at FVTPL are expensed as incurred.

As at April 30, 2019 and November 1, 2018, the Bank had not designated any financial liabilities at FVTPL.

Reclassification of financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except for financial assets for which the Bank changes its business model for managing financial assets. The reclassification is applied prospectively from the reclassification date. Such reclassifications of financial assets are expected to be rare in practice.

Impairment of financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Bank applies a three-stage impairment approach to measure the expected credit losses (ECL) on all debt instruments measured at amortized cost or at FVOCI, on loan commitments and financial guarantees that are not measured at fair value and on lease receivables. The ECL model is forward looking. Measurement of ECLs at each reporting period reflects reasonable and supportable information about past events, current conditions, and forecasts of future events and economic conditions.

In subsequent reporting periods, if the credit risk of the financial instrument improves such that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the ECL model requires reverting to recognition of 12-month expected credit losses. When one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of a financial asset have occurred, the financial asset is considered credit-impaired and is migrated to stage 3, and an allowance equal to lifetime expected losses continues to be recorded or the financial asset is written off. Interest income is calculated on the gross carrying amount of the financial assets in stages 1 and 2 and on the net carrying amount of the financial assets in stage 3.

For accounts receivables, the Bank applies a simplified impairment approach which does not track the changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes an allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date from the date of initial recognition.

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In determining whether credit risk has increased significantly, the Bank uses an internal credit risk grading system and external risk ratings. To assess whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly, the 12-month probability of default (PD) at the reporting date is compared with the 12-month PD at the date of initial recognition, and reasonable and supportable information indicative of significant increases in credit risk since initial recognition is considered. The Bank includes relative and absolute thresholds in the definition of significant increase in credit risk and a backstop of 30 days past due. All financial instruments that are 30 days past due are migrated to stage 2 even if other metrics do not indicate that a significant increase in credit risk has occurred. The assessment of a significant increase in credit risk requires significant judgment.

Measurement of expected credit losses

ECLs are measured as the probability-weighted present value of expected cash shortfalls over the remaining expected life of the financial instrument, and reasonable and supportable information about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future events and economic conditions is considered. The estimation and application of forward-looking information requires significant judgment. The cash shortfall is the difference between all contractual cash flows owed to the Bank and all the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive.

The measurement of ECLs is based primarily on the product of the instrument's PD, loss given default (LGD), and exposure at default (EAD). The IFRS 9 ECL calculation has leveraged, where appropriate, the credit risk model parameters used by the Bank for the collective allowance calculation under IAS 39, namely: PD, LGD and EAD. Forward-looking macroeconomic factors such as interest rates, unemployment rates, gross domestic product (GDP) forecasts and housing price indices are incorporated into the risk parameters. The estimate of expected credit losses reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes. The Bank incorporates three forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios in its ECL calculation process: a base scenario, an upside scenario, and a downside scenario. Probability-weights are attributed to each scenario. The scenarios and probability weights are reassessed quarterly and subject to management review. The Bank applies experienced credit judgment to adjust the modeled ECL results when it becomes evident that known or expected risk factors and information were not considered in the credit risk rating and modeling process.

ECLs for all financial instruments are recognized in Provisions for credit losses in the Consolidated Statement of Income. In the case of debt instruments measured at FVOCI, ECLs are recognized in Provisions for credit losses in the Consolidated Statement of Income, and a corresponding amount is recognized in Other comprehensive income with no reduction in the carrying amount of the asset on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. As for debt instruments measured at amortized cost, they are presented net of the related allowance for credit losses on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Allowances for credit losses for off-balance-sheet credit exposures that are not measured at fair value are included in Other liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets

On initial recognition of a financial asset, the Bank determines whether the asset is credit-impaired. For financial assets that are credit-impaired upon purchase or origination, in subsequent reporting periods the Bank recognizes only the cumulative changes in lifetime expected credit losses since initial recognition as an allowance for credit losses. The Bank recognizes changes in ECLs in Provision for credit losses in the Consolidated Statement of Income, even if the lifetime ECLs are less than ECLs that were included in the estimated cash flows on initial recognition.

Default

The definition of default used by the Bank to measure ECLs and transfer financial instruments between stages is consistent with the definition of default used for internal credit risk management purposes. The Bank considers a financial asset as credit impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of a financial asset have occurred or when contractual payments are 90 days past due.

Write-offs

The Bank writes off an impaired financial asset and its related allowance for credit losses in whole or in part when it considers the probability of recovery to be non-existent and when all guarantees and other remedies available to the Bank have been exhausted and balances owing are not likely to be recovered.

3.2 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

The Bank provides banking services to its customers. Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when control of services provided by the Bank is transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Bank expects to be entitled in exchange for those services. Revenue associated with the rendering of services is recognized by reference to the satisfaction of performance obligations at the end of the reporting period. The Bank has generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements, except for interchange income described below, because it typically controls the services before transferring them to the customer.

Fees and commissions on loans and deposits

Fees and commissions on loans and deposits include lending fees, deposit service charges, and card service revenues.

Lending fees include commitment fees, stand-by fees and letter of credit fees. These fees are recognized in income over the period in which the service is provided. Lending fees also include fees to guarantee acceptances issued by our customers, which are recognized over the term of the acceptance.

Deposit service charges are earned on personal and commercial deposit accounts and consist of account fees and transaction-based service charges. Account fees relate to account maintenance activities and are recognized in income over the period in which the service is provided. Transaction-based service charges are recognized as earned at a point in time when the transaction is complete.

Card service revenues include interchange income, as well as card fees such as annual and transactional fees. The Bank also offers credit card loyalty points programs which affect the timing of recognition of card service revenues.

Interchange income

Interchange income is recognized at a point in time when the transaction is authorized and funded. The Bank is acting as an agent in these arrangements.

When another party is involved in providing services to its customer, the Bank determines whether it is a principal or an agent in these transactions by evaluating the nature of its promise to the customer. The Bank is a principal and records revenue on a gross basis if it controls the promised services before transferring them to the customer. However, if the Bank's role is only to arrange for another entity to provide the services, then the Bank is an agent and will record revenue at the net amount that it retains for its agency services.

Card fees

Card fees are recognized as earned at the transaction date with the exception of annual fees, which are recognized over a twelve-month period.

Loyalty points programs

The Bank offers credit card loyalty points programs, which allow customers to accumulate points that can be redeemed for free products or services. The loyalty points give rise to a separate performance obligation as they provide a material right to the customer. A portion of the transaction price is allocated to the loyalty points awarded to customers based on relative stand-alone selling price and recognized as a contract liability until the points are redeemed. Revenue is recognized upon redemption of products or services by the customer.

When estimating the stand-alone selling price of the loyalty points, the Bank considers the likelihood that the customer will redeem the points. The Banks updates its estimates of the points that will be redeemed on a monthly basis and any adjustments to the contract liability balance are charged against revenue.

Fees and commissions - brokerage operations

Fees and commissions - brokerage operations mainly include commission fees and investment banking fees. Commission fees include sales, trailer and brokerage commissions. Sales and brokerage commissions are generally recognized at a point in time when the transaction is executed. Trailer commissions are recognized over time and are generally calculated based on the average daily net asset value of the fund during the period. Investment banking fees include advisory fees and underwriting fees and are generally recognized at a point in time as income upon successful completion of the engagement.

Commissions from sales of mutual funds

Commissions from sales of mutual funds mainly include trailer commissions. Trailer commissions are recognized over time and are generally calculated based on the average daily net asset value of the funds during the period.

Fees from investment accounts

Fees from investment accounts are earned on personal investment accounts under administration and consist of account fees and transaction-based service charges. Account fees relate to account maintenance activities and are recognized in income over the period in which the service is provided. Transaction-based service charges are recognized as earned at a point in time when the transaction is complete.

Contract balances

Accounts receivables

A receivable represents the Bank's right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional (i.e., only the passage of time is required before payment of the consideration is due). The timing of payment of accounts receivable is short term after the satisfaction of the performance obligation. Accounts receivables are measured at amortized cost and included in the Other assets line item.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Bank has received consideration from the customer. If a customer pays consideration before the Bank transfers services to the customer, a contract liability is recognized when the payment is made. Contract liabilities are recognized as revenue when the Bank performs under the contract. Contract liabilities are included in the Other liabilities line item.

4. FUTURE ACCOUNTING CHANGES

Except for the adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 as at November 1, 2018, there have been no significant updates to the future accounting changes disclosed in Note 4 of the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended October 31, 2018.

5. ADOPTION OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

5.1 IFRS 9, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The IFRS 9 classification and measurement requirements as well as the impairment requirements have been applied retrospectively through adjustments to Consolidated Balance Sheet amounts on the date of initial application, i.e., November 1, 2018, with no restatement of comparative periods, as is permitted under the standard. The impacts of IFRS 9 adoption were recognized through adjustments to Retained earnings and Accumulated other comprehensive income on November 1, 2018. The following information presents the Consolidated Balance Sheet impacts as at November 1, 2018.

Classification and measurement of financial instruments at the date of initial application of IFRS 9

The following tables show the measurement categories and carrying amounts of the Bank's financial assets and financial liabilities, as previously established in accordance with IAS 39 as at October 31, 2018, as well as the new measurement categories and new carrying amounts established in accordance with IFRS 9 as at November 1, 2018 and the impact of IFRS 9 adoption on shareholders' equity.

With respect to financial instruments for which the measurement method has changed, additional information is provided hereafter.

5. ADOPTION OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONT'D)

Impact of IFRS 9 adoption on financial assets

As at November 1, 2018	IAS 39 measurement category	IFRS 9 measurement category	a	Carrying mount under IAS 39	Classification	Measurement	Carrying amount under IFRS 9	
Financial assets								
Cash and non-interest-bearing deposits with other banks	Loans and receivables	Amortized cost	\$	116,490	\$ - 9	\$ —	\$ 116,490	
Interest-bearing deposits with other banks	Loans and receivables	Amortized cost		374,237	_	_	374,237	
Securities	Available-for-sale	n/a		2,710,249	(2,710,249)	_	_	
		Amortized cost		_	2,333,880	(140)	2,333,740	(1)
		FVOCI (debt securities)		_	156,804	(60)	156,744	
		FVOCI (designated equity securities)			180,058	_	180,058	[2]
		FVTPL		_	39,507	_	39,507	(3)
	Held-to-maturity	n/a		655,757	(655,757)	_	_	
		Amortized cost		_	655,757	_	655,757	
	Held-for-trading	n/a		2,695,138	(2,695,138)	_	_	
		Amortized cost		_	13,159	_	13,159	[4]
		FVTPL		_	2,681,979	_	2,681,979	
				6,551,871	_	(200)	6,551,671	(5)
Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements	Loans and receivables	Amortized cost		3,652,498	_	_	3,652,498	
Loans								
Personal	Loans and receivables	Amortized cost		5,372,468	_	_	5,372,468	
Residential mortgage	Loans and receivables	Amortized cost		16,986,338	_	_	16,986,338	
Commercial	Loans and receivables	Amortized cost		11,839,106	_	_	11,839,106	
Customers' liabilities under acceptances	Loans and receivables	Amortized cost		196,776	_	_	196,776	
				34,394,688	_	_	34,394,688	
Allowances for loan losses				(93,026)	_	(6,578)	(99,604)	(5)
				34,301,662	-	(6,578)	34,295,084	
Derivatives	FVTPL	FVTPL		94,285	_	_	94,285	
Other financial assets	Loans and receivables	Amortized cost		226,674	 _	_	226,674	
Sub-total – Impact of IFRS 9 adoption on financial assets, before income taxes				n/a	\$ _ 5	\$ (6,778)	n/a	

(1) As at October 31, 2018, these debt securities were classified as available-for-sale. They were being recognized at fair value with changes in fair value being recorded in Other comprehensive income. On November 1, 2018, under IFRS 9, the Bank reclassified these debt securities as at amortized cost, since (1) the financial assets are held within a business model whose objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows and [2] the contractual terms of these debt securities give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. The fair value of these debt securities as at October 31, 2018 was treated as their new gross carrying amount or amortized cost, respectively, as at November 1, 2018. Had the Bank not reclassified these debt securities as at amortized cost, the change in fair value that would have been recognized in Other comprehensive income would have been a gain of \$0.2 million for the three months ended April 30, 2019 and a gain of \$1.1 million for the six months ended April 30, 2019.

(2) As at October 31, 2018, these equity securities were classified as available-for-sale. They were being recognized at fair value with changes in fair value being recorded in Other comprehensive income. On November 1, 2018, and as permitted by the IFRS 9 transitional provisions, the Bank made an irrevocable election to designate these equity securities held in non-trading portfolios at FVOCI with no subsequent reclassification of gains and losses to net income.

(3) As at October 31, 2018, these debt securities were classified as available-for-sale. They were being recognized at fair value with changes in fair value being recorded in Other comprehensive income. On November 1, 2018, under IFRS 9, the Bank reclassified these debt securities as at FVTPL, since the financial assets are not held within a "hold to collect" business model nor a "hold to collect and sell" business model.

(4) As at October 31, 2018, these debt securities were classified as held-for-trading. They were being recognized at fair value with changes in fair value being recorded in profit or loss. On November 1, 2018, under IFRS 9, the Bank reclassified these debt securities as at amortized cost, since (1) the financial assets are now held within a business model whose objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows and (2) the contractual terms of these debt securities give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. The fair value of these debt securities as at amortized cost, respectively, as at November 1, 2018. Had the Bank not reclassified these debt securities as at amortized cost, changes in fair value that would have been recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Income would have been negligible for the three and six month periods ended April 30, 2019.

[5] Refer to the Reconciliation of allowances for credit losses at transition date table below for further details.

5. ADOPTION OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONT'D)

Impact of IFRS 9 adoption on financial liabilities and shareholders' equity

As at November 1, 2018	IAS 39 measurement category	IFRS 9 measurement category	а	Carrying amount under IAS 39		Classification	Measure	Measurement		Carrying nount under IFRS 9	
Financial liabilities											
Deposits	Amortized cost	Amortized cost	\$	28,006,572	\$	_	\$	_	\$	28,006,572	
Obligations related to securities sold short	FVTPL	FVTPL		3,008,666		_		_		3,008,666	
Obligations related to securities sold under repurchase agreements	Amortized cost	Amortized cost		2,515,823		_		_		2,515,823	
Acceptances	Amortized cost	Amortized cost		196,776		_		_		196,776	
Derivatives	FVTPL	FVTPL		285,492		_		_		285,492	
Other financial liabilities	Amortized cost	Amortized cost		628,822		_		3,655		632,477	[1]
Debt related to securitization activities	Amortized cost	Amortized cost		7,787,753		_		_		7,787,753	
Subordinated debt	Amortized cost	Amortized cost		348,762		_		_		348,762	
Sub-total – Impact of IFRS 9 adoption on financial liabilities, before income taxes				n/a		_	:	3,655		n/a	
Total – Impact of IFRS 9 adoption, before income taxes				n/a		_	(1),433)		n/a	
Shareholders' equity											
Total Accumulated other comprehensive income, after income taxes				(15,990)		6,408		_		(9,582)	[2]
Total Retained earnings, after income taxes				1,152,470		(6,408)	(7,679)		1,138,383	(2),(3)
Total Shareholders' equity, after income taxes			\$	2,496,202	\$	_	\$ (7,679)	\$	2,488,523	[3]

[1] Refer to the Reconciliation of allowances for credit losses at transition date table below for further details.

[2] Classification amount represents the impact after income taxes (\$8.5 million before income taxes) that resulted from the reclassification of debt securities from available-forsale under IAS 39 to amortized cost under IFRS 9.

[3] Measurement amount represents the impact after income taxes [\$10.4 million before income taxes] of the adoption of the impairment provisions of IFRS 9.

Reconciliation of allowances for credit losses at transition date

The following table presents a reconciliation of the allowances for credit losses amounts established in accordance with IAS 39 as at October 31, 2018 with those established in accordance with IFRS 9 as at November 1, 2018.

						IFRS 9							
As at November 1, 2018			Collective Allowances ^[1]			Transition Adjustments		Stage 1		Stage 2	Stage 3	Total	
Debt securities													
At amortized cost ^[2]	\$	_	\$ -	\$	_	\$	140	\$	140 \$	- \$	- \$	140	
At FVOCI ⁽³⁾		_	_		_		60		60	_	_	60	
		_	_		_		200		200	_	_	200	
Loans at amortized cost													
Personal		_	23,509		23,509		11,215		9,214	20,582	4,928	34,724	
Residential mortgage		_	9,920		9,920		(5,214)		2,435	1,828	443	4,706	
Commercial ⁽⁴⁾		28,442	31,155		59,597		577		19,536	8,004	32,634	60,174	
		28,442	64,584		93,026		6,578		31,185	30,414	38,005	99,604	
Off-balance sheet exposures ⁽⁵⁾		_	3,396		3,396		3,655		4,523	2,176	352	7,051	
Total allowances for credit losses	\$	28,442	\$ 67,980	\$	96,422	\$	10,433	\$	35,908 \$	32,590 \$	38,357 \$	106,855	

(1) Includes collective allowances for impaired loans and for other loans.

(2) Previously available-for-sale and held-to-maturity securities under IAS 39.

[3] Previously available-for-sale debt securities under IAS 39.

(4) Including customers' liabilities under acceptances.

[5] Including letters of guarantee and certain undrawn amounts under approved credit facilities, established under IAS 37 as at October 31, 2018.

5. ADOPTION OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONT'D)

5.2 IFRS 15, REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

IFRS 15, *Revenue from Contracts with Customers* establishes a comprehensive framework for the recognition, measurement and disclosure of revenues. IFRS 15 applies to all contracts with customers (except for contracts that are within the scope of the standards on leases, insurance contracts and financial instruments) and replaces, among others, the previous revenue standard IAS 18, *Revenue* and the related interpretation on revenue recognition IFRIC 13, *Customer Loyalty Programmes*.

IFRS 15 requires that revenue recognised from contracts with customers must be disclosed separately from its other sources of revenue. As such, income from brokerage operations previously presented on a single line item on the consolidated statement of income is now presented separately under two line items: Fees and commissions – brokerage operations and Securities gains – brokerage operations. This change in presentation was applied retrospectively.

The adoption of IFRS 15 had no significant impact on the Bank's Consolidated Financial Statements as at November 1, 2018.

6. SECURITIES

Credit quality

As at April 30, 2019, debt securities at amortized cost and at FVOCI are classified in Stage 1, with their credit facility falling mainly in the "Low risk" category according the Bank's internal risk-rating categories. As at April 30, 2019, allowances for credit losses amounted to \$0.1 million for debt securities at amortized cost and \$0.1 million for debt securities at FVOCI.

Securities at amortized cost

		April 30, 2019	
Securities issued or guaranteed			
by Canada ⁽¹⁾	\$	1,477,880	
by provinces		1,321,838	
by municipalities		40,558	
Other debt securities		100,322	
	\$	2,940,598	

[1] Including mortgage-backed securities that are fully guaranteed by the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation pursuant to the National Housing Act.

Securities at FVOCI

Accumulated unrealized gains and losses recognized in other comprehensive income

				As at	April 30, 2019
	Amortized cost	Unrealized gains	Unrealized losses		Fair value ⁽¹⁾
Securities issued or guaranteed					
by Canada ⁽²⁾	\$ 30,379	\$ 248	\$ 3	\$	30,624
by provinces	7,948	173	3		8,118
by municipalities	76,156	193	142		76,207
Other debt securities	30,913	424	57		31,280
Asset-backed securities	1,404	1	_		1,405
Preferred shares	196,053	233	23,474		172,812
Common shares and other securities	24,768	1,498	322		25,944
	\$ 367,621	\$ 2,770	\$ 24,001	\$	346,390

The allowances for credit losses on debt securities at FVOCI, amounting to \$0.1 million as at April 30, 2019, are reported in Accumulated other comprehensive income.
 Including mortgage-backed securities that are fully guaranteed by the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation pursuant to the National Housing Act.

6. SECURITIES (CONT'D)

Equity securities designated at FVOCI

The Bank designated certain equity securities, the business objective of which is mainly to generate dividend income, at FVOCI without subsequent reclassification of gains and losses to net income.

For the three months ended April 30, 2019, an amount of \$2.7 million in dividend income was recognized on these investments (\$2.4 million for the three months ended January 31, 2019), including a negligible amount for investments that were sold during the three months ended April 30, 2019 (negligible amount for the three months ended January 31, 2019).

	For the six months ended April 30, 2019
Fair value as at November 1, 2018	\$ 180,058
Change in fair value	(14,749)
Designated at FVOCI	53,312
Sales or redemptions	(19,865)
Fair value as at April 30, 2019	\$ 198,756

Available-for-sale securities

Gains and losses recognized in income from treasury and financial market operations on the portfolio of available-for-sale securities

	For the three months ended	or the six nths ended
	April 30 2018	April 30 2018
Realized net gains	\$ 130	\$ 2,620

Accumulated unrealized gains and losses recognized in other comprehensive income on the portfolio of available-for-sale securities

			А	s at O	ctober 31, 2018
	Amortized cost	Unrealized gains	Unrealized losses		Fair value
Securities issued or guaranteed					
by Canada ¹¹	\$ 1,028,739	\$ 351	\$ 445	\$	1,028,645
by provinces	1,327,856	181	618		1,327,419
by municipalities	127,212	_	1,997		125,215
Other debt securities	39,342	5	1,027		38,320
Asset-backed securities	2,453	_	2		2,451
Preferred shares	184,651	8	7,350		177,309
Common shares and other securities	10,658	256	24		10,890
	\$ 2,720,911	\$ 801	\$ 11,463	\$	2,710,249

[1] Including mortgage-backed securities that are fully guaranteed by the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation pursuant to the National Housing Act.

7. LOANS AND ALLOWANCES FOR CREDIT LOSSES

As at April 30, 2019, loans are recognized on the Consolidated Balance Sheet at amortized cost as outlined in Note 3 using the financial asset classification criteria defined in IFRS 9. The following information is presented in accordance with IFRS 9 as at April 30, 2019 and in accordance with IAS 39 as at October 31, 2018. For additional information on the adoption of IFRS 9, see Note 5 to these consolidated financial statements.

Determining and measuring expected credit losses (ECL)

Expected Credit Losses

Expected credit losses are determined using a three-stage approach that is based on the change in the credit quality of assets since initial recognition.

- Stage 1: Financial instruments that are not impaired and for which the credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition are classified in Stage 1.
- Stage 2: Financial instruments that have experienced a significant increase in credit risk between initial recognition and the reporting date but are not impaired are migrated to Stage 2.
- Stage 3: Financial instruments for which there is objective evidence of impairment, for which one or more events have had a detrimental impact on estimated future cash flows at the reporting date and are considered credit impaired, are classified in Stage 3.
- POCI: Financial instruments that are credit-impaired when purchased or originated (POCI) are classified in the POCI category.

Governance and controls

The Bank's risk management framework is applied to the determination of expected credit losses. The Bank has policies and procedures that govern impairments arising from credit risk. These policies are documented and periodically reviewed by the risk management function. A validation team independent of the team that prepares the calculations reviews the expected credit losses calculations. Complex questions on measurement methodologies and assumptions are reviewed by a group of experts from various functions. Furthermore, the inputs and assumptions used to determine expected credit losses are reviewed on a regular basis by the risk management function.

Measurement of expected credit losses

Expected credit losses are estimated using three main variables: (1) probability of default (PD), (2) loss given default (LGD) and (3) exposure at default (EAD). For accounting purposes, 12-month expected credit losses are estimated by multiplying 12-month PD by LGD and by EAD. Lifetime expected credit losses are estimated using the lifetime PD.

Expected credit losses are measured either on a collective or an individual basis. Financial instruments that have credit losses measured on a collective basis are allocated to groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.

Inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques used

The Bank's approach to calculating expected credit losses for IFRS 9 purposes leverages credit risk models based on the internal risk rating of credit facilities by adjusting parameters.

PD estimates

PD is an estimate of the likelihood that a loan will not be repaid over a given time horizon. The resulting PD estimates are built based on historical data, current market conditions and are estimated by incorporating reasonable and supportable forward-looking economic conditions at the balance sheet date. Some adjustments are made to Basel parameters to transform them into parameters compliant with IFRS 9 requirements, including the conversion of through-the-cycle parameters to point-in-time inputs that consider supportable and relevant information about future economic conditions.

LGD estimates

LGD represents the amount that may not be recovered in the case where a default occurs. LGD estimates are determined based on historical data, facility-specific characteristics such as collateral, direct costs and relevant information about future economic conditions, where appropriate.

EAD estimates

EAD represents an estimate of the exposure at the time a default may occur. Depending on the type of exposure, EAD includes forwardlooking expectations about amounts to be drawn on a committed facility, if applicable, or expectations about repayments of drawn balances.

Expected life

For most financial instruments, the expected life used when measuring expected credit losses is the remaining contractual life. For revolving financial instruments where there is no contractual maturity, such as credit cards or lines of credit, the expected life is based on the behavioral life of the product.

Incorporation of forward-looking information

The Bank's Economy and Strategy group is responsible for developing three macroeconomic scenarios (base scenario, upside scenario and downside scenario) and for recommending probability weights for each scenario. Macroeconomic scenarios are not developed for specific portfolios, as the Economy and Strategy group provides a set of variables for each of the defined scenarios. ECL inputs and models rely on forward-looking macroeconomic factors (interest rates, unemployment rates, GDP forecasts, housing price indices, etc.). The Bank considers other relevant factors that may not be adequately reflected in the information used to calculate the ECL (including late payments and whether the financial asset is subject to additional monitoring such as the watch list for commercial loan portfolios).

Assessment of significant changes in credit risk

To assess whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly, the 12-month PD at the reporting date is compared with the 12-month PD at the date of initial recognition, and reasonable and supportable information indicative of significant increases in credit risk since initial recognition is considered. The Bank has included relative and absolute thresholds in the definition of significant increase in credit risk and a backstop of 30 days past due. All financial instruments that are 30 days past due are migrated to stage 2 even if other metrics do not indicate that a significant increase in credit risk has occurred.

Similarly, the Bank determines whether credit risk has decreased significantly for loans that have been migrated to stage 2 or stage 3, using those same factors.

Determination of credit impairment

The Bank considers a financial asset to be impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of a financial asset have occurred or when contractual payments are 90 days past due.

Credit quality of loans

The following tables present information about credit risk rating grades in accordance with credit risk management.

Credit risk rating grades

Personal credit exposures

The Bank uses behaviour scoring models to manage and monitor personal credit exposures. The table below shows the PD categories along with the associated credit qualities of the personal credit portfolios.

PD (%)	Description
0.00-0.33	Very low risk
0.34-0.84	Low risk
0.85-14.98	Medium risk
14.99-99.99	High risk
100	Default

Commercial credit exposures

For internal credit risk management, the Bank uses a 19-level risk rating system to evaluate commercial credit exposures. This risk rating system used by the Bank is similar to the systems used by major external rating agencies. The following table presents a grouping of the grades by major risk category and compares them with the ratings of two major rating agencies.

Ratings	PD (%)	Standard & Poor's	DBRS	Description
1-7	0.00-0.43	AAA to BB+	AAA to BB (high)	Very low risk
8-10	0.44-1.63	BB to BB-	BB to B (high)	Low risk
11-13	1.64-11.38	B+ to B-	B to CCC (high)	Medium risk
14-16	11.39-99.99	CCC+ to C	CC (high) to CCC	High risk
17-19	100	D	D	Default

Credit risk exposure

The table below presents the gross and net carrying amounts of loans and acceptances and off-balance sheet exposures as at April 30, 2019, according to credit quality and ECL impairment stage of each loan category at amortized cost.

							As at	April 30, 2019
		Stage 1		Stage 2		Stage 3 ¹¹		Total
Personal loans								
Very low risk	\$	2,760,131	\$	81,281	\$	_	\$	2,841,412
Low risk		696,884		230,570		_		927,454
Medium risk		860,041		379,271		_		1,239,312
High risk		3,473		34,843		_		38,316
Default		_		_		26,237		26,237
Gross carrying amount		4,320,529		725,965		26,237		5,072,731
Allowances for loan losses		7,695		18,102		8,587		34,384
Net carrying amount	\$	4,312,834	\$	707,863	\$	17,650	\$	5,038,347
Residential mortgage loans								
Very low risk	\$	6,963,162	\$	3,046	\$	_	\$	6,966,208
Low risk	Ŧ	5,033,058	Ŧ	261,056	Ŧ	_	Ŧ	5,294,114
Medium risk		3,041,313		871,062		_		3,912,375
High risk		6,946		80,379		_		87,325
Default						53,085		53,085
Gross carrying amount		15,044,479		1,215,543		53,085		16,313,107
Allowances for loan losses		1,967		1,412		545		3,924
Net carrying amount	\$	15,042,512	\$	1,214,131	\$	52,540	\$	16,309,183
Commercial loans ⁽²⁾	•		•	.,,	+	,	+	,,
	\$	2,253,677	\$	28,503	\$		\$	2 202 100
Very low risk Low risk	Ψ	7,249,724	Ð	28,503	Þ	—	φ	2,282,180 7,539,172
Low risk Medium risk						—		
		2,260,272		400,589		—		2,660,861
High risk		—		142,804				142,804
Default		11,763,673		861,344		107,619		107,619
Gross carrying amount Allowances for loan losses								
Net carrying Amount	\$	20,901	\$	8,268 853,076	\$	35,451	\$	64,620 12,668,016
	Ŷ	11,742,772	Ψ	855,070	Ψ	72,100	Ψ	12,000,010
Total loans								
Gross carrying amount	\$	31,128,681	\$	2,802,852	\$	186,941	\$	34,118,474
Allowances for loan losses	<u> </u>	30,563		27,782		44,583		102,928
Net carrying amount	\$	31,098,118	\$	2,775,070	\$	142,358	\$	34,015,546
Off-balance sheet exposures ⁽³⁾								
Very low risk	\$	1,196,436	\$	40,461	\$	_	\$	1,236,897
Low risk		1,157,167		96,496		_		1,253,663
Medium risk		397,827		67,973		_		465,800
High risk		36		3,219		_		3,255
Default		_		_		_		_
Total exposure		2,751,466		208,149		_		2,959,615
Allowances for off-balance sheet exposures losses		4,102		2,121		_		6,223
Total exposure, net	\$	2,747,364	\$	206,028	\$	_	\$	2,953,392

(1) As of the adoption of IFRS 9, all loans classified in Stage 3 of the ECL model as at April 30, 2019 are impaired loans, including \$14.4 million of insured residential mortgage loans. Under IAS 39, loans were considered impaired according to different criteria.

(2) Including customers' liabilities under acceptances.

(3) Including letters of guarantee and certain undrawn amounts under approved credit facilities.

Impaired loans⁽¹⁾

			As a	t April 30, 2019
	Gross impaired loans	Allowances against impaired loans		Net impaired loans
Personal loans	\$ 26,237	\$ 8,587	\$	17,650
Residential mortgage loans	53,085	545		52,540
Commercial loans ^[2]	107,619	35,451		72,168
	\$ 186,941	\$ 44,583	\$	142,358

As at October 31, 2018

	Gross impaired loans	Individual allowances	а	Collective allowances igainst impaired loans	Net impaired loans
Personal loans	\$ 19,805	\$ _	\$	4,844	\$ 14,961
Residential mortgage loans	37,134	_		2,104	35,030
Commercial loans ^[2]	124,331	28,442		2,788	93,101
	\$ 181,270	\$ 28,442	\$	9,736	\$ 143,092

(1) As of the adoption of IFRS 9, all loans classified in Stage 3 of the ECL model are impaired loans, including \$14.4 million of insured residential mortgage loans. Under IAS 39, loans were considered impaired according to different criteria.

(2) Including customers' liabilities under acceptances.

Loans past due but not impaired

The following table shows personal and residential mortgage loans that are past due but not classified as impaired. Commercial loans past due but not impaired are not significant.

				As at A	April 30, 2019
	1 day- 31 days	32 days- 90 days	Over 90 days ⁽¹⁾		Total
Personal loans	\$ 110,149	\$ 30,142	\$ _	\$	140,291
Residential mortgage loans	266,284	64,342	_		330,626
	\$ 376,433	\$ 94,484	\$ _	\$	470,917
			А	s at Oct	ober 31, 2018
	1 day- 31 days	32 days- 90 days	Over 90 days		Total
Personal loans	\$ 64,649	\$ 21,856	\$ 6,301	\$	92,806
Residential mortgage loans	252,403	48,542	16,642		317,587
	\$ 317,052	\$ 70,398	\$ 22,943	\$	410,393

(1) As of the adoption of IFRS 9, loans more than 90 days past due are considered impaired (Stage 3).

Reconciliation of allowances for credit losses

The following table presents the reconciliation of allowances for credit losses for each exposure category at amortized cost according to ECL impairment stage.

	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Total
	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 0	Iotat
Personal				
Balance at beginning of period	\$ 9,834	\$ 20,862	\$ 7,136	\$ 37,832
Transfers:				
to Stage 1	5,128	(4,932)	(196)	_
to Stage 2	(841)	1,272	(431)	_
to Stage 3	(28)	(836)	864	_
Originations	375	85	-	460
Derecognitions	(196)	(774)	(1,776)	(2,746)
Net remeasurements of allowances	(4,943)	3,846	7,648	6,551
Provision for (reversal of) credit losses	(505)	(1,339)	6,109	4,265
Write-offs	_	-	(6,251)	(6,251)
Recoveries	_	_	1,814	1,814
Foreign exchange and other	_	_	(221)	(221)
Balance at the end of period	\$ 9,329	\$ 19,523	\$ 8,587	\$ 37,439
Total allowances for loan losses	\$ 7,695	\$ 18,102	\$ 8,587	\$ 34,384
Total allowances for off-balance sheet exposures	1,634	1,421	_	3,055
Total allowances for credit losses	\$ 9,329	\$ 19,523	\$ 8,587	\$ 37,439
Residential mortgage				
Balance at beginning of period	\$ 1,975	\$ 1,610	\$ 632	\$ 4,217
Transfers:				
to Stage 1	399	(379)	(20)	_
to Stage 2	(79)	155	(76)	_
to Stage 3	(3)	(94)	97	_
Originations	7	3	_	10
Derecognitions	(45)	(50)	(128)	(223)
Net remeasurements of allowances	(276)	182	812	718
Provision for (reversal of) credit losses	3	(183)	685	505
Write-offs	_	_	(398)	(398)
Recoveries	_	_	25	25
Foreign exchange and other	_	_	(399)	(399)
Balance at end of period	\$ 1,978	\$ 1,427	\$ 545	\$ 3,950
Total allowances for loan losses	\$ 1,967	\$ 1,412	\$ 545	\$ 3,924
Total allowances for off-balance sheet exposures	11	15	_	26
Total allowances for credit losses	\$ 1,978	\$ 1,427	\$ 545	\$ 3,950

			For the	three months	ended A	pril 30, 2019
	Stage 1	Stage 2		Stage 3		Total
Commercial						
Balance at beginning period	\$ 21,125	\$ 10,822	\$	33,782	\$	65,729
Transfers:						
to Stage 1	2,088	(2,065)		(23)		_
to Stage 2	(1,291)	1,291		_		_
to Stage 3	(9)	(129)		138		_
Originations	4,093	844		_		4,937
Derecognitions	(2,577)	(2,054)		(617)		(5,248)
Net remeasurements	(140)	243		4,638		4,741
Provision for (reversal of) credit losses	2,164	(1,870)		4,136		4,430
Write-offs	_	_		(3,463)		(3,463)
Recoveries	_	_		647		647
Foreign exchange and other	69	1		349		419
Balance at end of period	\$ 23,358	\$ 8,953	\$	35,451	\$	67,762
Total allowances for loan losses	\$ 20,901	\$ 8,268	\$	35,451	\$	64,620
Total allowances for off-balance sheet exposures	2,457	685		_		3,142
Total allowances for credit losses	\$ 23,358	\$ 8,953	\$	35,451	\$	67,762
Total exposure						
Total allowances for loan losses	\$ 30,563	\$ 27,782	\$	44,583	\$	102,928
Total allowances for off-balance sheet exposures	4,102	2,121		_		6,223
Total allowances for credit losses	\$ 34,665	\$ 29,903	\$	44,583	\$	109,151

<u> </u>	 Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	April 30, 2019 Total
	 Stage I	Stage 2	Stage 5	TULAL
Personal				
Balance at beginning of period	\$ 11,070	\$ 22,498	\$ 4,934	\$ 38,502
Transfers:				
to Stage 1	6,139	(5,931)	(208)	-
to Stage 2	(1,077)	1,296	(219)	_
to Stage 3	(61)	(1,122)	1,183	_
Originations	455	143	-	598
Derecognitions	(443)	(1,517)	(1,405)	(3,365)
Net remeasurements of allowances	(6,754)	4,156	14,073	11,475
Provision for (reversal of) credit losses	(1,741)	(2,975)	13,424	8,708
Write-offs	_	_	(12,103)	(12,103)
Recoveries	_	_	2,795	2,795
Foreign exchange and other	_	_	(463)	(463)
Balance at the end of period	\$ 9,329	\$ 19,523	\$ 8,587	\$ 37,439
Total allowances for loan losses	\$ 7,695	\$ 18,102	\$ 8,587	\$ 34,384
Total allowances for off-balance sheet exposures	1,634	1,421	_	3,055
Total allowances for credit losses	\$ 9,329	\$ 19,523	\$ 8,587	\$ 37,439
Residential mortgage				
Balance at beginning of period	\$ 2,446	\$ 1,840	\$ 443	\$ 4,729
Transfers:				
to Stage 1	563	(518)	(45)	_
to Stage 2	(102)	263	(161)	_
to Stage 3	(6)	(117)	123	_
Originations	12	4	_	16
Derecognitions	(117)	(134)	(178)	(429)
Net remeasurements of allowances	(818)	89	1,595	866
Provision for (reversal of) credit losses	(468)	(413)	1,334	453
Write-offs	_	_	(520)	(520)
Recoveries	_	_	66	66
Foreign exchange and other	_	_	(778)	(778)
Balance at end of period	\$ 1,978	\$ 1,427	\$ 545	\$ 3,950
Total allowances for loan losses	\$ 1,967	\$ 1,412	\$ 545	\$ 3,924
Total allowances for off-balance sheet exposures	11	15	_	26
Total allowances for credit losses	\$ 1,978	\$ 1,427	\$ 545	\$ 3,950

			For t	he six months	ended A	pril 30, 2019
	Stage 1	Stage 2		Stage 3		Total
Commercial						
Balance at beginning period	\$ 22,192	\$ 8,252	\$	32,980	\$	63,424
Transfers:						
to Stage 1	1,389	(1,069)		(320)		_
to Stage 2	(1,675)	1,675		_		_
to Stage 3	(24)	(277)		301		_
Originations	4,677	803		_		5,480
Derecognitions	(4,271)	(2,111)		(1,031)		(7,413)
Net remeasurements	1,013	1,679		9,780		12,472
Provision for (reversal of) credit losses	1,109	700		8,730		10,539
Write-offs	_	_		(6,009)		(6,009)
Recoveries	_	_		582		582
Foreign exchange and other	57	1		(832)		(774)
Balance at end of period	\$ 23,358	\$ 8,953	\$	35,451	\$	67,762
Total allowances for loan losses	\$ 20,901	\$ 8,268	\$	35,451	\$	64,620
Total allowances for off-balance sheet exposures	2,457	685		_		3,142
Total allowances for credit losses	\$ 23,358	\$ 8,953	\$	35,451	\$	67,762
Total exposure						
Total allowances for loan losses	\$ 30,563	\$ 27,782	\$	44,583	\$	102,928
Total allowances for off-balance sheet exposures	4,102	2,121		_		6,223
Total allowances for credit losses	\$ 34,665	\$ 29,903	\$	44,583	\$	109,151

	For the six months ended April 30, 2018											il 30, 2018
		Balance at ginning of period		Provision for credit losses		Write-offs		Recoveries and other ⁽¹⁾	i	Interest accrued on impaired loans	E	Balance at end of period
Personal	\$	30,600	\$	12,667	\$	(16,425)	\$	3,420	\$	(462)	\$	29,800
Residential mortgage		10,818		1,383		(213)		(619)		(729)		10,640
Commercial ^[2]		63,474		7,450		(9,706)		134		(882)		60,470
Total allowances for credit losses	\$	104,892	\$	21,500	\$	(26,344)	\$	2,935	\$	(2,073)	\$	100,910
Individual allowances	\$	24,801	\$	4,026	\$	(8,865)	\$	(1)	\$	(437)	\$	19,524
Collective allowances against impaired loans		17,828		11,689		(17,479)		2,936		(1,636)		13,338
Collective allowances against other loans		56,557		7,528		_		_		_		64,085
Total allowances for loan losses	\$	99,186	\$	23,243	\$	(26,344)	\$	2,935	\$	(2,073)	\$	96,947
Allowances for off-balance sheet exposures ⁽³⁾		5,706		(1,743)		_		_		_		3,963
Total allowances for credit losses	\$	104,892	\$	21,500	\$	(26,344)	\$	2,935	\$	(2,073)	\$	100,910

(1) Includes impact of foreign exchange movements.

(2) Including customers' liabilities under acceptances.

[3] The allowances for off-balance sheet exposures, such as letters of guarantee and certain undrawn amounts under approved credit facilities, are recognized in other liabilities.

Sale of commercial loans

During the three months ended January 31, 2019, the Bank sold commercial loans amounting to \$105.4 million and recognized a net gain of nil in other income. No such sales occurred during the three months ended April 30, 2019. During the three months ended April 30, 2018, the Bank sold a \$380.0 million agricultural commercial loan portfolio and recognized a \$5.3 million gain in other income.

Finance lease receivables

The Commercial loans line item includes net investment in leases of \$887.0 million as at April 30, 2019 (\$878.7 million as at October 31, 2018).

8. SECURITIZATION AND STRUCTURED ENTITIES

8.1 TRANSFER OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Bank sells mortgage loans to the Canada Mortgage Bond (CMB) program and to third-party investors under the National Housing Act (NHA) Mortgage-Backed Securities (MBS) program set-up by the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC), as well as through a multi-seller conduit set up by another Canadian bank.

Financial assets not qualifying for derecognition and associated financial liabilities

The following table summarizes the carrying amounts of financial assets that do not qualify for derecognition and their associated financial liabilities included on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

	As at April 30 2019	As at October 31 2018
Residential mortgage loans	\$ 6,172,306	\$ 6,238,035
Replacement Assets ⁽¹⁾	979,894	1,111,898
Debt related to securitization activities	\$ (7,187,528)	\$ (7,276,779)

(1) Includes cash and deposits with banks, securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements and securities acquired as part of the principal reinvestment account that is required to be maintained for the Bank to participate in the program.

In addition, as at April 30, 2019, the Bank has also securitized other residential mortgage loans for a total amount of \$577.4 million (\$599.7 million as at October 31, 2018) as part of the NHA MBS program, of which \$97.4 million (\$244.7 million as at October 31, 2018) was pledged as collateral with the Bank of Canada and \$480.0 million (\$355.0 as at October 31, 2018) was available to be pledged as collateral. The resulting NHA MBS are presented as part of residential mortgage loans.

8.2 STRUCTURED ENTITIES SECURITIZATON VEHICLES

The Bank sells loans and finance lease receivables to intermediate partnerships, B2B Securitization Limited Partnership and LBC Leasing Limited Partnership (the Partnerships), respectively. To fund these purchases, the Partnerships issue interest-bearing liabilities to securitization conduits of other Canadian banks. These Partnerships are consolidated and the related interest-bearing liabilities issued by the Partnerships are recorded as debt related to securitization activities involving structured entities.

Financial assets securitized through other structured entities

The following table summarizes the carrying amounts of financial assets securitized through other structured entities that do not qualify for derecognition and their associated financial liabilities included in the consolidated balance sheet.

	As at April 30 2019	As at October 31 2018
Personal loans	\$ 939,643	\$ 1,022,791
Commercial loans ⁽¹⁾	530,564	351,943
Debt related to securitization activities involving structured entities	\$ (671,955)	\$ (510,974)

(1) The Bank securitizes finance lease receivables which are included in the Commercial loans line item.

9. SHARE CAPITAL

Preferred shares

The variation and outstanding number and amounts of preferred shares was as follows.

		For the six months ended									
			April 30 2019			April 30 2018					
	Number of shares		Amount	Number of shares		Amount					
Non-Cumulative Class A Preferred Shares											
Series 11											
Outstanding at beginning of period	-	\$	_	4,000,000	\$	97,562					
Repurchase of shares	_		_	(4,000,000)		(97,562)					
Outstanding at the end of period	_		_	—		-					
Series 13											
Outstanding at beginning and end of period	5,000,000	\$	122,071	5,000,000	\$	122,071					
Series 15											
Outstanding at beginning and end of period	5,000,000	\$	121,967	5,000,000	\$	121,967					
	10,000,000	\$	244,038	10,000,000	\$	244,038					

There were no outstanding Non-Cumulative Class A Preferred Shares Series 14 and Series 16 as at April 30, 2019 (no outstanding preferred shares Series 14 and Series 16 as at April 30, 2018, October 31, 2018 and October 31, 2017).

Conversion Privilege of Non-Cumulative Class A Preferred Shares, Series 13

On May 7, 2019, the Bank announced that it did not intend to exercise its right to redeem all or any of its currently outstanding Non-Cumulative Class A Preferred Shares, Series 13 (the "Preferred Shares Series 13") on June 15, 2019. On May 16, 2019, the Bank announced that the dividend rate for the five-year period commencing on June 15, 2019, and ending on June 14, 2024, will be 4.123% per annum, being equal to the sum of the five-year Government of Canada bond yield as at May 16, 2019, plus 2.55%, as determined in accordance with the terms of the Preferred Shares Series 13.

In addition, subject to certain conditions described in the prospectus supplement dated March 27, 2014 relating to the issuance of the Preferred Shares Series 13 (the "Prospectus"), the holders of the Preferred Shares Series 13 have the right, at their option, to convert any or all of their Preferred Shares Series 13 into an equal number of the Bank's Non-Cumulative Class A Preferred Shares, Series 14 (the "Preferred Shares Series 14") on June 17, 2019. The foregoing conversion right is subject to the conditions that: (i) if, after May 31, 2019, the Bank determines that there would be less than 1,000,000 Preferred Shares Series 14 outstanding on June 17, 2019, then no Preferred Shares Series 13 will be converted into Preferred Shares Series 14, and (ii) alternatively, if after, May 31, 2019, the Bank determines that there would be less than 1,000,000 Preferred Shares Series 13 outstanding on June 17, 2019, the Bank determines that there would be less than 1,000,000 Preferred Shares Series 13 outstanding on June 17, 2019, the Bank determines that there would be less than 1,000,000 Preferred Shares Series 13 outstanding on June 17, 2019, the Bank determines that there would be less than 1,000,000 Preferred Shares Series 13 outstanding on June 17, 2019, then all remaining Preferred Shares Series 13 will automatically be converted into an equal number of Preferred Shares Series 14 on June 17, 2019. With respect to any Preferred Shares Series 14 that may be issued, holders thereof will be entitled to receive floating rate non-cumulative preferential cash dividends on a quarterly basis, as and when declared by the Board of Directors of the Bank, being equal to the sum of the three-month Government of Canada Treasury bill yield, plus 2.55%, as determined in accordance with the terms of the Preferred Shares Series 14.

Common shares

The variation and outstanding number and amounts of common shares was as follows.

		April 30 2019		April 30 2018
	Number of shares	Amount	Number of shares	Amount
Common shares				
Outstanding at beginning of period	42,075,284	\$ 1,115,416	38,966,473	\$ 953,536
Issuance under a public offering	_	_	2,624,300	143,812
Issuance under the Shareholder Dividend Reinvestment and Share Purchase Plan	247,344	10,429	251,322	12,660
Net issuance costs	n/a	(36)	n/a	(4,714)
	42,322,628	\$ 1,125,809	41,842,095	\$ 1,105,294

9. SHARE CAPITAL (CONT'D)

Shareholder Dividend Reinvestment and Share Purchase Plan

The Bank determined that as of May 29, 2019, reinvestments related to the dividend declared would be made in common shares issued from treasury at a 2% discount.

Dividends declared

On May 14, 2019, the Board of Directors declared the regular dividend on the various series of preferred shares to shareholders of record on June 7, 2019.

On May 29, 2019, the Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend of \$0.66 per common share, payable on August 1, 2019, to shareholders of record on July 2, 2019.

Capital management

Regulatory capital

OSFI requires banks to meet minimum risk-based capital ratios drawn on the BCBS capital framework, commonly referred to as Basel III. Under OSFI's Capital Adequacy Requirements guideline, minimum Common Equity Tier 1, Total Tier 1 and Total capital ratios were set at 7.0%, 8.5% and 10.5% respectively for 2019 including the 2.5% capital conservation buffer.

Under OSFI's Leverage Requirements Guideline, federally regulated deposit-taking institutions are expected to maintain a Basel III leverage ratio that meets or exceeds 3% at all times. The leverage ratio is defined as the Tier 1 capital divided by unweighted onbalance sheet assets and off-balance sheet commitments, derivatives and securities financing transactions, as defined within the requirements.

The Bank has complied with regulatory capital requirements throughout the six-month period ended April 30, 2019. Regulatory capital is detailed below.

		As at April 30 2019	As at October 31 2018
Common shares	\$	1,125,809	\$ 1,115,416
Retained earnings		1,152,058	1,152,470
Accumulated other comprehensive income, excluding cash flow hedge reserve		5,256	(3,746)
Share-based compensation reserve		1,175	268
Deductions from Common Equity Tier 1 capital ⁽¹⁾		(449,453)	(452,401)
Common Equity Tier 1 capital		1,834,845	1,812,007
Non-qualifying preferred shares ⁽²⁾		_	_
Qualifying preferred shares		244,038	244,038
Additional Tier 1 capital		244,038	244,038
Tier 1 capital		2,078,883	2,056,045
Qualifying subordinated debt		348,930	348,762
Collective allowances		64,569	67,981
Deductions from Tier 2 capital ⁽³⁾		_	_
Tier 2 capital		413,499	416,743
Total capital	\$	2,492,382	\$ 2,472,788
Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio	·	9.0%	9.0%
Tier 1 capital ratio		10.2%	10.2%
Total capital ratio		12.2%	12.2%

(1) Comprised of deductions for software and other intangible assets, goodwill, pension plan assets and other.

(2) There is currently no deduction related to the non-qualifying capital instruments under Basel III.

[3] There is currently no deduction from Tier 2 capital.

10. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Share purchase option plan

Old Stock Option Purchase Plan

On October 31, 2018, the Bank awarded 124,962 stock options under the Old Stock Option Purchase Plan. The average fair value of the options of \$5.64 per option was determined as at December 6, 2018 upon the determination of the exercise price of \$38.97. The average fair value of the options awarded was estimated using the Black-Scholes model, as well as the assumptions presented in the table below.

10. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (CONT'D)

New Stock Option Plan

In December 2018, the Bank established the New Stock Option Plan. The New Stock Option Plan was approved at the Annual General Meeting of shareholders on April 9, 2019. The terms and conditions of the New Stock Option Plan govern the stock options granted by the Board of Directors on December 4, 2018 described thereafter.

Officers, senior executives and other employees of the Bank or its subsidiaries are eligible participants in the New Stock Option Plan. Under this plan, the exercise price of options for the purchase of common shares cannot be below the market value of the Bank's share at the date of grant. Stock options granted will vest 50% after three years and 50% after four years and the options may be exercised at any time up to ten years after they have been granted. The Bank reserved 1,666,000 common shares under this New Stock Option Plan, of which 1,282,674 were still available as at April 30, 2019.

On December 4, 2018, the Bank awarded 383,326 stock options under this New Stock Option Plan with an exercise price of \$38.97. In accordance with applicable accounting guidance, the fair value of the options was adjusted upon the approval of this New Stock Option Plan by shareholders on April 9, 2019. The weighted-average fair value of the stock options was estimated at \$6.78 using the Black-Scholes model, as well as the assumptions presented in the table below.

Information relating to outstanding number of options is as follows. None of these options were exercisable.

	As at April 30 2019	As at October 31 2018
Number of share purchase options outstanding under the Old Stock Option Purchase Plan	124,962	124,962
Number of share purchase options outstanding under the New Stock Option Plan	383,326	n/a

Assumptions related to the stock options valuations are as follows.

	2019 grant	2018 grant
Risk free interest rate	1.61%	2.05%
Expected life of options	8 years	8 years
Expected volatility	22%	20%
Expected dividend yield	5.20%	5.20%

Performance-based share unit plans

Effective November 1, 2018, the Bank modified the characteristics of its performance-based share unit (PSU) plan for eligible members of its senior management. All rights to the new PSUs vest over three years with no guaranteed minimum vesting. The number of units vesting will be based on the Bank's total shareholder return relative to the average of a peer group of Canadian financial institutions and on the adjusted return on equity of the Bank relative to budgets. During the vesting period, dividend equivalents accrue to the participants in the form of additional share units. All PSUs are cash settled at fair value at the maturity date. A deferred version of the plan exists under which the participant is paid on termination of employment rather than at the end of the three-year period.

During the first quarter of 2019, the Bank granted 130,620 PSUs valued at \$40.88 each. The rights to these units will vest in December 2021 and upon meeting the aforementioned criteria.

Restricted share unit plans

During the first quarter of 2019, under the restricted share unit plan, annual bonuses for certain employees amounting to \$1.9 million were converted into 45,451 entirely vested restricted share units. Simultaneously, the Bank also granted 152,544 additional restricted share units valued at \$40.88 each that will vest in December 2021.

During the first quarter of 2019, under the restricted share unit plan for employees of the Capital Markets sector, annual bonuses for certain employees amounting to \$1.4 million were converted into 33,057 entirely vested restricted share units. This plan does not provide for any employer contribution and a third of these restricted share units are redeemed in December at each of the first three anniversary dates of the grant.

Share-based compensation plans' expense and related liability

The following table shows the expense related to share-based compensation plans, net of the effect of related hedging transactions.

	For th	ne th	iree months e		For the six mo	s ended		
	 April 30 2019		January 31 2019		April 30 2018	April 30 2019		April 30 2018
Expense arising from share-based compensation plans	\$ 2,145	\$	7,406	\$	(1,058)	\$ 9,551	\$	(4,772)
Effect of hedges	1,399		(2,362)		2,582	(963)		7,480
	\$ 3,544	\$	5,044	\$	1,524	\$ 8,588	\$	2,708

10. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (CONT'D)

With a view to reducing volatility in the share-based compensation plans' expense, the Bank enters into total return swap contracts with third parties, the value of which is linked to the Bank's share price. Changes in fair value of these derivative instruments partially offset the share-based compensation plans' expense related to the share price variations over the period in which the swaps are in effect.

The carrying amount of the liability relating to the cash-settled plans was \$39.6 million as at April 30, 2019 (\$33.4 million as at October 31, 2018). The intrinsic value of the total liability related to fully vested rights and units was \$25.2 million as at April 30, 2019 (\$20.7 million as at October 31, 2018).

11. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

Expense for post-employment benefits

The total expense recognized for post-employment benefit plans was as follows:

	For the three months ended				For the six months ended				
	April 30 2019		January 31 2019		April 30 2018		April 30 2019		April 30 2018
Defined benefit pension plans	\$ 3,277	\$	3,461	\$	4,189	\$	6,738	\$	8,520
Defined contribution pension plans	2,005		2,030		1,966		4,035		3,891
Other plans	210		218		212		428		431
	\$ 5,492	\$	5,709	\$	6,367	\$	11,201	\$	12,842

During the second quarter of 2019, the Bank announced its intention to optimize its Retail Services operations, as well as to streamline certain back-office and corporate functions. These measures led to a reduction of the workforce and in the curtailment of one of the Bank's pension plans. This curtailment resulted in a \$3.9 million gain. In addition, these measures generated \$0.9 million gains to other post-employment benefits obligations. These gains were recorded on the Restructuring charges line item in the Consolidated Statement of Income, as further described in Note 16.

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted earnings per share is detailed as follows.

	For t	he tł	nree months e	ended		For the six m	nonth	s ended
	April 30 2019		January 31 2019		April 30 2018	April 30 2019		April 30 2018
Earnings per share – basic								
Net income	\$ 43,313	\$	40,256	\$	59,195	\$ 83,569	\$	118,942
Preferred share dividends, including applicable taxes	3,256		3,257		3,253	6,513		7,532
Net income attributable to common shareholders	\$ 40,057	\$	36,999	\$	55,942	\$ 77,056	\$	111,410
Average number of outstanding common shares (in thousands)	42,235		42,114		41,762	42,173		40,591
Earnings per share – basic	\$ 0.95	\$	0.88	\$	1.34	\$ 1.83	\$	2.74
Earnings per share – diluted								
Net income attributable to common shareholders	\$ 40,057	\$	36,999	\$	55,942	\$ 77,056	\$	111,410
Average number of outstanding common shares (in thousands)	42,235		42,114		41,762	42,173		40,591
Dilutive share purchase options (in thousands)	39		19		_	29		_
Diluted weighted average number of outstanding common shares (in thousands)	42,274		42,133		41,762	42,202		40,591
Earnings per share – diluted	\$ 0.95	\$	0.88	\$	1.34	\$ 1.83	\$	2.74

There has been no transaction involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the reporting date and the date of the completion of these consolidated financial statements which would require the restatement of earnings per share.

13. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – FAIR VALUE

Determining fair value

The fair value of a financial instrument is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions. The fair value of financial instruments is best evidenced by an independent quoted market price for the same instrument in an active market when available. Otherwise, fair value is measured using valuation techniques that maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. Fair value measurements are categorized into levels within a fair value hierarchy based on the nature of valuation inputs (Level 1, 2 or 3). Additional information on the fair value hierarchy and the valuation methodologies used by the Bank to measure the fair value of financial instruments can be found in Note 22 of the 2018 audited annual consolidated financial statements. There were no changes in fair value measurement methods in the period.

Financial instruments recorded at fair value in the financial statements are classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, except for securities of \$367.1 million which are classified in Level 1 as at April 30, 2019 (\$355.1 million as at October 31, 2018). Financial instruments recorded at fair value classified in Level 3 are not significant. There were no significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the hierarchy in the period.

14. INTEREST AND DIVIDEND INCOME FROM SECURITIES

Interest and dividend income arising from selected securities is detailed as follows.

	F	or the three months ended			For the six months ended	
		April 30, 2019	J	lanuary 31, 2019		April 30, 2019
Interest income - debt securities						
At amortized cost	\$	15,129	\$	14,153	\$	29,282
At FVOCI	\$	567	\$	852	\$	1,419
Dividend income - equity securities	\$	3,953	\$	3,788	\$	7,741

15. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

In the ordinary course of business, the Bank and its subsidiaries are involved in various legal and regulatory actions and claims. These matters mainly relate to class actions involving numerous other financial institutions and pertaining to charges on credit cards and banking accounts and to mortgage prepayment fees, as well as other claims in respect to portfolio administration by trustee and crossclaims from clients following the Bank's recovery actions on loans. While there is inherent difficulty in predicting the outcome of legal proceedings, based on current knowledge and in consultation with legal counsel, the outcome of these matters is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial statements. However, the outcome of these matters, individually or in aggregate, may be material to operating results for a particular reporting period.

16. RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

The following table shows the change in the provision for restructuring charges, included in the Other liabilities line item in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

	For the six months ended			
	 April 30 2019	April 30 2018		
Balance at beginning of the period	\$ 4,754 \$	9,411		
Restructuring charges incurred during the period ⁽¹⁾	10,255	2,669		
Payments made during the period	(4,056)	(5,408)		
Balance at end of the period	\$ 10,953 \$	6,672		

(1) Excluding a \$4.8 million curtailment gain on pension plans and other post-employment benefits obligations presented on the Restructuring charges line-item in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

At the end of February, we reiterated our intention to optimize our Retail Services operations and announced the streamlining of certain back-office and corporate functions. As a result, restructuring charges incurred during the six-month period ended April 30, 2019 mainly included expenses related to these measures. Additional costs are expected to be incurred by the end of the first quarter of 2020 as the changes are implemented.

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Corporate offices

Montreal 1360 René-Lévesque Blvd West, Suite 600 Montreal, Quebec H3G 0E5 www.lbcfg.ca

Toronto 199 Bay St, Suite 600 Toronto, Ontario M5L 0A2 www.lbcfg.ca

Ombudsman's office

1360 René-Lévesque Blvd West Suite 600 Montreal, Quebec H3G 0E5 ombudsman@lbcfg.ca Tel.: 514-284-7192 or 1-800-479-1244

Transfer agent and registrar

Computershare Investor Services Inc. 1500 Robert-Bourassa Blvd, Suite 700 Montreal, Quebec H3A 3S8 service@computershare.com Tel.: 514-982-7888 or 1-800-564-6253

Change of address

and inquiries Shareholders must notify the Bank's transfer agent and registrar of any change of address. Inquiries or requests may be directed to the Bank's Corporate Secretariat's Office at secretary.office@lbcfg.ca or by calling 514-284-4500 ext. 40448.

Direct deposit service

Shareholders of the Bank may, by advising the transfer agent in writing, have their dividends deposited directly into an account held at any financial institution member of the Payments Canada.

Investors and analysts

Investors and analysts may contact the Bank's Investor Relations Department at investor.relations@lbcfg.ca or by calling 514-284-4500 ext. 40452.

Media

Journalists may contact the Bank's Executive Office at media@lbcfg.ca or by calling 514-284-4500 ext. 40015.



Dividend reinvestment and share purchase plan

The Bank has a dividend reinvestment and share purchase plan for Canadian holders of its common and preferred shares under which they can acquire common shares of the Bank without paying commissions or administration fees. Participants acquire shares through the reinvestment of cash dividends paid on the shares they hold or through optional cash payments of a minimum amount of \$500 per payment, up to an aggregate amount of \$20,000 in each 12 month period ending October 31.

For more information, shareholders may contact the Bank's transfer agent, Computershare Trust Company of Canada, at service@computershare.com or at 1-800-564-6253. To participate in the plan, the Bank's non-registered shareholders must contact their financial institution or broker.

STOCK SYMBOL AND DIVIDEND RECORD AND PAYMENT DATES

The common and preferred shares indicated below are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange.	CUSIP CODE / STOCK SYMBOL	RECORD DATE*	DIVIDEND PAYMENT DATE*
Common shares	51925D 10 6 / LB	First business day of:	
		January	February 1
		April	May 1
		July	August 1
		October	November 1
Preferred shares			
Series 13	51925D 82 5 / LB.PR.H	March 7	March 15
Series 15	51925D 79 1 / LB.PR.J	June 7	June 15
		September 7	September 15
		December 7	December 15

* Subject to the approval of the Board of Directors.

